

Interventions to prevent steroid-induced osteoporosis and osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Bell, J. M., Shields, M., Watters, J., Hamilton, A., Beringer, T., Elliott, M., Quinlivan, R., Tirupathi, S., & Blackwood, B. (2017). Interventions to prevent steroid-induced osteoporosis and osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review). *Cochrane database of systematic reviews (Online)*, (1), Article CD010899. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD010899.pub2

Published in:

Cochrane database of systematic reviews (Online)

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Queen's University Belfast - Research Portal:

Link to publication record in Queen's University Belfast Research Portal

Publisher rights

Copyright 2017 The Cochrane Collection. This work is made available online in accordance with the publisher's policies. Please refer to any applicable terms of use of the publisher.

General rights

Copyright for the publications made accessible via the Queen's University Belfast Research Portal is retained by the author(s) and / or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing these publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Take down policy

The Research Portal is Queen's institutional repository that provides access to Queen's research output. Every effort has been made to ensure that content in the Research Portal does not infringe any person's rights, or applicable UK laws. If you discover content in the Research Portal that you believe breaches copyright or violates any law, please contact openaccess@qub.ac.uk.

Open Access

This research has been made openly available by Queen's academics and its Open Research team. We would love to hear how access to this research benefits you. – Share your feedback with us: http://go.qub.ac.uk/oa-feedback



Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Bell JM, Shields MD, Watters J, Hamilton A, Beringer T, Elliott M, Quinlivan R, Tirupathi S, Blackwood B

Bell JM, Shields MD, Watters J, Hamilton A, Beringer T, Elliott M, Quinlivan R, Tirupathi S, Blackwood B. Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD010899. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD010899.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	3
OBJECTIVES	8
METHODS	8
RESULTS	10
Figure 1	11
Figure 2	13
DISCUSSION	14
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	16
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	16
REFERENCES	17
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	29
DATA AND ANALYSES	35
ADDITIONAL TABLES	35
APPENDICES	35
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	43
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	43
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	44
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	44

[Intervention Review]

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy

Jennifer M Bell¹, Michael D Shields¹, Janet Watters², Alistair Hamilton³, Timothy Beringer⁴, Mark Elliott⁵, Rosaline Quinlivan⁶, Sandya Tirupathi⁷, Bronagh Blackwood¹

¹Centre for Experimental Medicine, School of Medicine, Dentistry and Biomedical Sciences, Queen's University Belfast, Belfast, UK. ²GP Out of Hours Service, Belfast Health and Social Care Trust, Belfast, UK. ³Withers Orthopaedic Centre, Belfast Health and Social Care Trust, Belfast, UK. ⁴Department of Care for the Eldery, Belfast Health and Social Care Trust, Belfast, UK. ⁵Musgrave Park Hospital, Belfast Health and Social Care Trust, Belfast, UK. ⁶MRC Centre for Neuromuscular Diseases and Dubowitz Neuromuscular Centre, UCL Institute of Neurology and National Hospital for Neurology and Neurosurgery and Great Ormond Street, London, UK. ⁷Paediatric Neurology, Royal Belfast Hospital for Sick Children, Belfast, UK

Contact address: Michael D Shields, Centre for Experimental Medicine, School of Medicine, Dentistry and Biomedical Sciences, Queen's University Belfast, Room 02.041, 2nd Floor, Mulhouse, Grosvenor Road, Belfast, Northern Ireland, BT12 6BJ, UK. m.shields@qub.ac.uk.

Editorial group: Cochrane Neuromuscular Group. Publication status and date: New, published in Issue 1, 2017. Review content assessed as up-to-date: 12 September 2015.

Citation: Bell JM, Shields MD, Watters J, Hamilton A, Beringer T, Elliott M, Quinlivan R, Tirupathi S, Blackwood B. Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD010899. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD010899.pub2.

Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Corticosteroid treatment is considered the 'gold standard' for Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD); however, it is also known to induce osteoporosis and thus increase the risk of vertebral fragility fractures. Good practice in the care of those with DMD requires prevention of these adverse effects. Treatments to increase bone mineral density include bisphosphonates and vitamin D and calcium supplements, and in adolescents with pubertal delay, testosterone. Bone health management is an important part of lifelong care for patients with DMD.

Objectives

To assess the effects of interventions to prevent or treat osteoporosis in children and adults with DMD taking long-term corticosteroids; to assess the effects of these interventions on the frequency of vertebral fragility fractures and long-bone fractures, and on quality of life; and to assess adverse events.

Search methods

On 12 September 2016, we searched the Cochrane Neuromuscular Specialised Register, CENTRAL, MEDLINE, Embase, and CINAHL Plus to identify potentially eligible trials. We also searched the Web of Science ISI Proceedings (2001 to September 2016) and three clinical trials registries to identify unpublished studies and ongoing trials. We contacted correspondence authors of the included studies in the review to obtain information on unpublished studies or work in progress.

Selection criteria

We considered for inclusion in the review randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and quasi-RCTs involving any bone health intervention for corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and fragility fractures in children, adolescents, and adults with a confirmed diagnosis of DMD. The interventions might have included oral and intravenous bisphosphonates, vitamin D supplements, calcium supplements, dietary calcium, testosterone, and weight-bearing activity.

Data collection and analysis

Two review authors independently assessed reports and selected potential studies for inclusion, following standard Cochrane methodology. We contacted study authors to obtain further information for clarification on published work, unpublished studies, and work in progress.

Main results

We identified 18 potential studies, of which two, currently reported only as abstracts, met the inclusion criteria for this review. Too little information was available for us to present full results or adequately assess risk of bias. The participants were children aged five to 15 years with DMD, ambulant and non-ambulant. The interventions were risedronate versus no treatment in one trial (13 participants) and whole-body vibration versus a placebo device in the second (21 participants). Both studies reported improved bone mineral density with the active treatments, with no improvement in the control groups, but the abstracts did not compare treatment and control conditions. All children tolerated whole-body vibration treatment. No study provided information on adverse events. Two studies are ongoing: one investigating whole-body vibration, the other investigating zoledronic acid.

Authors' conclusions

We know of no high-quality evidence from RCTs to guide use of treatments to prevent or treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and reduce the risk of fragility fractures in children and adults with DMD; only limited results from two trials reported in abstracts were available. We await formal trial reports. Findings from two ongoing relevant studies and two trials, for which only abstracts are available, will be important in future updates of this review.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Treatments to prevent and treat thinning of bones and prevent fractures caused by corticosteroids in Duchenne muscular dystrophy

Review question

What are the effects of treatments to prevent or treat thinning of bones (osteoporosis) and prevent fragile bones from breaking (fragility fractures) in adults and children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) who are taking long-term corticosteroids?

Background

DMD is an inherited condition, affecting about one in 3500 to one in 6000 newborn boys. DMD causes muscle weakness that becomes more severe with age. Muscle weakness is widespread, affecting movement, the digestive system, breathing, and the heart. The pattern of weakness mainly affects muscles near the trunk, around the shoulders, and at the hips. If untreated, DMD leads to death in the late teens from breathing or heart complications. A child with DMD often shows the first signs of this disease before starting school. If untreated, he will lose the ability to walk by the age of 13 years and need to use a wheelchair. There is no cure for DMD, but medicines called corticosteroids slow muscle damage and enable boys with DMD to walk for longer. Boys with DMD also tend to have weak bones because of their weak muscles and reduced mobility.

Corticosteroids cause osteoporosis (thinning of the bones), which makes the bones more fragile and liable to fracture (break). Therapies, such as vitamin D and calcium supplements, more calcium in the diet, medicines called bisphosphonates, testosterone, and weightbearing exercise, might be able to strengthen bone to prevent and treat osteoporosis and prevent fractures in people with DMD who are taking corticosteroids. Investigators use bone density as a measure of how strong the bone is and to measure the effects of therapies to prevent and treat osteoporosis.

Study characteristics

We searched the medical literature comprehensively, finding two completed trials. Only brief reports (abstracts) of these trials are available. The participants were children aged from five to 15 years with DMD who were able to walk and not able to walk. The treatments were risedronate versus no treatment in one trial (with 13 participants) and whole-body vibration versus a placebo (inactive) device in the other (with 21 participants).

Key results and quality of the evidence

We found two completed studies that were potentially eligible for this review, for which full results have not yet been published, and two studies ongoing at the time of the search. These studies are looking at the effects of whole-body vibration (two studies), risedronate, and zoledronic acid. Both completed trials, presented as abstracts only, reported an improvement in bone mineral density in children who received active treatment and no improvement in children in the control (placebo or no treatment) groups. However, the reports did not report results for the comparison of treatment versus control groups, which means that it is not possible to draw conclusions about the effectiveness of either treatment. All children tolerated whole-body vibration treatment. Neither study provided information on adverse events.

We know of no evidence from randomised clinical trials to guide use of treatments to prevent or treat osteoporosis and prevent fragility fractures in people with DMD taking corticosteroids.

Searches are current to September 2016.

BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD)

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is a progressive disorder affecting skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscle (Emery 1998; Voisin 2004). Inheritance is sex-linked recessive, and the condition has an incidence of one in 3500 to one in 6000 male live births (Emery 1991; Emery 2003; Flanigan 2012). DMD is caused by deletions, duplications or mutations in the dystrophin gene located at Xp21, resulting in the absence or low levels of the protein known as dystrophin (Chaturvedi 2001; Flanigan 2009; Lee 2012; Muntoni 2003; Soltanzadeh 2010). Dystrophin is a large protein located on the sarcolemmal membrane. It forms part of the dystrophinassociated protein complex and is involved in membrane integrity. Absence of dystrophin leads to membrane damage and progressive dystrophic changes within the muscle (Blake 2002; Deconinck 2007). Affected boys appear normal at birth and first show signs of muscle weakness in early childhood, often as a toddler. Without treatment, they become wheelchair dependent by 13 years of age. Without respiratory support, death occurs in the late teens or early twenties. Because of postural imbalance and reduced muscular support to the spine, scoliosis (spinal deformity) typically develops. Scoliosis of the thoracic region restricts movement of the ribs making breathing even more difficult for already weakened

respiratory muscles. However, in recent years, prognosis has improved substantially with the introduction of non-invasive ventilation support along with cough-assist technology and co-ordinated multidisciplinary care (Bushby 2010; Passamano 2012).

Corticosteroid treatment is now considered the 'gold standard' for DMD, and corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis is an important emerging problem (Bushby 2010). Corticosteroids have been shown to slow the decline in muscle function and may protect cardiac and respiratory function. Corticosteroid-treated boys lose the ability to walk at around 12 to 14 years of age, compared with seven to 13 years for non-treated boys (Matthews 2010; Ricotti 2012). Physicians usually start treatment during the 'plateau phase' of the condition (usually between four and six years of age) (Bushby 2010). Doses of prednisone, prednisolone, or deflazacort are either taken daily, Biggar 2004; Fenichel 1991; Griggs 1991; Matthews 2010; Mesa 1991, or intermittently, Dubowitz 2002; Kinali 2002. Treatment that is continued after the loss of ambulation may preserve upper body strength, respiratory and cardiac function, and delay the onset of scoliosis (Balaban 2005; Biggar 2004; Biggar 2006; Daftary 2007; Hussein 2014; King 2007; Lebel 2013; Manzur 2008; Schram 2013). Corticosteroids have significant side-effects, which require proactive management (Angelini 2007; Balaban 2005; Biggar 2006; Bonifati 2000; Bushby 2004; Bushby 2010; Houde 2008; King 2007; Manzur 2008; Matthews 2010; Merlini 2012; Moxley 2010). One such side-effect is corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis, which includes the increased risk of vertebral fractures (Angelini 2012; Bachrach 2005; Balaban 2005; Bothwell 2003; Bianchi 2003; Canalis 2004; Houde 2008; King 2007; Mayo 2012; Quinlivan 2010; Soderpalm 2007; Van Staa 2003; Weldon 2009).

Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is a progressive, systemic skeletal disease, characterised by reduced bone mass and micro-architectural deterioration of bone tissue. As a result, bone is increasingly fragile and more susceptible to fracture (NICE 2012). Fragility fractures are fractures that result from mechanical forces that would not ordinarily result in fracture. Osteoporotic fragility fractures are defined as fractures associated with low bone mineral density and include spine, forearm, hip, and shoulder fractures.

In children and adolescents, osteoporosis is defined as low bone mineral content or bone mineral density for chronological age. The diagnosis of osteoporosis requires the presence of both a clinically significant fracture history, for example, vertebral compression fracture or long-bone fractures, and low bone mineral content or bone mineral density. Low bone mineral content or bone mineral density is defined as bones with a Z-score that is less than or equal to -2.0, adjusted for age, gender, and body size, as appropriate (ISCD 2007).

Bone mineral content and bone mineral density are assessed in children by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (Bianchi 2010). Quantitative-computed tomography, peripheral quantitative-computed tomography, quantitative ultrasonography, or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are also used (Bachrach 2011; Buckner 2015). To avoid incorrect estimations, conventional DXA measurements are adjusted according to size for use in children, those with deteriorating bone, and people of shorter stature (Bianchi 2014). Bone mineral density is measured as age-based and height-adjusted Z-scores (Bachrach 2011; Baim 2008; Bianchi 2010; Crabtree 2014; Fewtrell 2003). DXA can also predict the risk of fractures before they occur. Its use is based on a relationship between low bone mineral density and risk of fracture in adults, which also exists in children (Clark 2006; Goulding 1998). This is an important application of DXA in patients with DMD, as part of bone health evaluation (Bianchi 2011a).

Bone is a living tissue, which bone formation and bone resorption constantly remodels (Joyce 2012). Factors that affect bone health include genetics, nutrition, physical activity (loading), age, and hormones. Corticosteroid treatment affects endocrine function, suppressing growth, delaying puberty, reducing bone mineral density, and increasing body weight (Bianchi 2011a; Dooley 2013; Wood 2015). Corticosteroids induce bone loss by hindering bone formation through osteoblastic apoptosis (the death of cells that make bone) and by stimulating bone mineral resorption through an increase in the number of osteoclasts (cells that break down bone) (Popp 2006). The reduction in bone mineral density from changes in bone metabolism is not fully understood (Bianchi 2011a). Deficiencies in testosterone (delayed puberty) and growth hormone, or resistance to an insulin-like growth hormone, and limited mobility with excessive weight gain contribute to a reduction in bone mineral density (Allen 1998; Bianchi 2011a; Dooley 2013). Bone mineral density is difficult to assess in DMD due to lack of normative curves, short stature, delayed bone age, etc. Corticosteroid treatment may not appear to reduce bone mineral density to the same extent as in adults. Soderpalm 2008 commented that lower bone mineral density in boys with DMD is likely to be the combined result of corticosteroid treatment, muscle loss from the disease, and reduced mobility. Low bone mineral density increases the risk of bone fragility fractures (Bachrach 2005; Douvillez 2005; Joyce 2012; Quinlivan 2005; Talim 2002). There are some data to suggest that boys with DMD who are corticosteroid-naive (that is, those who have not previously been exposed to corticosteroids) are at increased risk of long-bone fractures (Biggar 2006; Granata 1991; Houde 2008; Hsu 1979; Larson 2000; McDonald 2002; Vestergaard 2001), implying that corticosteroids are not the only cause for these fractures and causation is complex.

Osteoporotic fragility fractures

Vertebral fragility fractures are recognised as the most common manifestation of corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis (Al-Osail 2010; Rodd 2012; Sugiyama 2011; Van Staa 2000; Van Staa 2001; Van Staa 2003; Varonos 1987). Vertebral fragility fractures have not been reported in corticosteroid-naive patients with DMD of any age (Alman 2004; Houde 2008; King 2007), and very often, vertebral fractures are not tracked in children with DMD (especially those not treated with steroids). In boys with DMD taking corticosteroids, the occurrence of vertebral fractures ranges from 15% to 75% after a mean duration of 6.3 years on treatment (ranging from 4.5 to 8.0 years) (Bothwell 2003; Houde 2008; King 2007; Mayo 2012). The incidence of long-bone fractures was, however, similar in treated and untreated patients (Houde 2008; McDonald 2002) (24% and 26%, respectively, in Houde 2008).

Those treated with corticosteroids tend to be more ambulant, and patients who are more ambulant are more likely to fall and sustain a long-bone fracture. Non-ambulatory patients appear to be at an increased risk of vertebral fractures (Larson 2000; Mayo 2012). Previous surgical intervention for scoliosis may also prevent vertebral fragility fractures (Mayo 2012). Lack of ambulation, taking steroids previously, or both, may lead to a greater body fat composition in patients with DMD. Body fat percentage was reported as significantly higher in patients with vertebral fractures ($47.8\% \pm 12\%$) than in those with long-bone fractures ($33\% \pm 14.2\%$) (P < 0.05) (Mayo 2012).

Vertebral fractures can be symptomatic or asymptomatic. Acute back pain is closely associated with symptomatic vertebral fragility fractures (odds ratio (OR) 10.6, 95% confidence interval (CI) 2.1 to 53.8, P = 0.004) and requires radiological investigation to confirm the diagnosis (Huber 2010; Talim 2002), but an es-

timated 20% of vertebral fractures are asymptomatic (Manzur 2010). Asymptomatic fractures are thought to be precursors of painful symptomatic fragility fractures (Leung 2011). Asymptomatic fractures may be undetected because radiological or densit-ometric monitoring is not conducted routinely (Quinlivan 2010). Diagnosis and confirmation of a vertebral fracture requires visual examination of lateral X-ray or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) images to assess the change in shape of the vertebrae as biconcave, wedge, or crush, as well as the degree of deformity (Genant 1993; Lenchik 2004; Quinlivan 2010).

The occurrence of fractures is significantly related to low bone mineral density in DMD (Aparicio 2002; Khatri 2008; Larson 2000). Bone mineral density is often lower than normal for the age of the patient (Bianchi 2003; Crabtree 2010; Mayo 2012; Soderpalm 2012). In children and adolescents with DMD, the baseline bone mineral density is low due to lack of weight-bearing activity. It is probably lowered further by corticosteroids. While some studies have shown no reduction in spinal bone mineral density after 30 months of corticosteroid therapy for DMD in prepubertal boys (Crabtree 2010), or only a marginal reduction in children and adolescents taking corticosteroids (Cohran 2008), others reported a substantially lowered bone mineral density in boys (children and adolescents) taking corticosteroids, particularly those with reduced mobility (Bianchi 2003; Hawker 2005; Mayo 2012).

International consensus workshops have taken place to prioritise poor bone health in DMD patients and to improve clinical outcomes through education (Biggar 2005; Leung 2011; Muntoni 2006; Quinlivan 2005; Quinlivan 2010). Recent advances in treatments for muscle loss have enabled people with DMD to actively participate in life for longer. Bone health in patients with DMD is an important issue because long-bone fractures seriously harm mobility: approximately 20% to 50% of independently mobile patients lose the ability to walk unaided following a long-bone fracture (Larson 2000; Manzur 2010; Mayo 2012; McDonald 2002; Vestergaard 2001). Identifying treatment strategies to prevent corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent often painful fragility fractures in DMD may have a significant effect in improving quality of life for these patients.

Description of the intervention

The following pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions are thought to have the potential to prevent or treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis by increasing bone mineral density and reduce the risk of fractures in patients with DMD.

Bisphosphonates

Intravenous bisphosphonates are used to treat painful vertebral fractures in boys with DMD and are associated with improvements in back pain (Sbrocchi 2012). The use of bisphosphonate treatment in children is relatively new, but there are growing numbers of trials suggesting benefit, particularly in children with osteogenesis imperfecta (bone fragility) (Allington 2005; Bianchi 2000; Brumsen 1997; Glorieux 1998; Hawker 2005; Henderson 2002; Houston 2014; Palomo 2011; Plotkin 2000; Plotkin 2006; Rauch 2002; Rudge 2005; Sbrocchi 2012; Shaw 2000; Sholas 2005; Wagner 2011; Ward 2011). A randomised controlled trial (RCT) to investigate the efficacy and safety of daily oral alendronate in children and adolescents with osteogenesis imperfecta over two years found that the mean spine area Z-score increased from -4.6 to -3.3 compared to -4.6 to -4.5 in the placebo group. Long-bone fracture incidence and bone pain were similar between groups (Ward 2011).

Bisphosphonates appear to be well tolerated by children for periods of up to three years (Shaw 2005; Ward 2007b). Dosing regimes differ among paediatric studies (Ward 2007b). Oral bisphosphonates are prescribed according to body weight (mg/kg) (Bianchi 2000; Hawker 2005; Rudge 2005). Intravenous bisphosphonates are usually administered at a dose of 1 mg/kg to 1.5 mg/kg (Acott 2005; Shaw 2000).

Treatment is usually combined with vitamin D and calcium supplements to minimise the risk of hypocalcaemia (Maalouf 2006; Poole 2012); however, calcium supplements reduce the absorption of bisphosphonates. Adverse effects are more common with intravenous than oral bisphosphonates (Somalo 2007). The U.S. Food and Drug Adminstration (FDA) is reviewing long-term use (FDA 2011). Atypical fractures occurring with prolonged bisphosphonate therapy have been a featured concern in recent publications (Compston 2011; Edwards 2010; Girgis 2010; Isaacs 2010; Shane 2010), and there have been cautions that high and prolonged doses may paradoxically induce osteoporosis (Whyte 2008).

Calcium

A balanced calcium-rich diet is recommended as the best long-term strategy to maintain adequate calcium levels (Bacciottini 2004; Biggar 2005; Sunyecz 2008). Calcium supplements in healthy children have shown short-term improvements in bone mineral density (Winzenberg 2006). Intestinal calcium absorption is dependent on other factors such as vitamin D levels.

Genetics determine 60% to 80% of attained peak bone mass, and environmental factors, such as nutrition, exercise, and disease, determine the remainder (Quinlivan 2010). Bone mineral density can vary between individuals from early childhood and be predictive of a potential fracture risk in children with medical conditions affecting bone health (Ferrari 1998; Goulding 2005; Harvey 2012; Quinlivan 2010; Winzenberg 2006). A review of calcium supplementation for improving bone mineral density in children showed no effect on spinal bone mineral density, but a small effect on total body bone mineral content (BMC) (Winzenberg 2006). A doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of 149 girls showed an increase in bone mineral density in those taking calcium-supplemented food

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

compared to those who did not (Bonjour 1997). There is poor evidence to indicate whether calcium supplementation alone reduces the risk of fractures (Black 2002; Bolland 2015; Goulding 1998; Goulding 2004; Petridou 1997; Winzenberg 2006). The consumption of adequate dietary calcium and vitamin D can increase bone mineral density in patients with DMD (Bianchi 2011). Evidence that calcium alone has a positive effect on bone health in boys with DMD is limited.

Vitamin D

Significantly lower serum 25OHD levels have been highlighted in boys with DMD, especially in those taking corticosteroids (Bianchi 2003; Bianchi 2011). People taking corticosteroids are twice as likely to have low 25OHD levels as those not on corticosteroids (OR 2.36, 95% CI 1.25 to 4.45) (Skversky 2011). Dhawan 2010 proposed that corticosteroids may inactivate 25OHD by increasing the activity of the enzyme 24-hydroxylase.

Vitamin D levels collected in boys with DMD aged from 1.5 to 15.5 years prior to starting corticosteroid treatment revealed that 78% had inadequate levels and 15% qualified as deficient (Munot 2010). In two other studies, 54% to 70% of those with DMD on corticosteroids were vitamin D deficient (Manzur 2010; Wong 2010).

In a Cochrane Review, the bone mineral density in healthy children taking vitamin D supplements did not change, but bone mineral density did increase in those with low 25OHD levels (Winzenberg 2010). When investigators examined vitamin D levels at the time of a vertebral fracture in boys with DMD, they categorised the mean serum vitamin D levels as insufficient (Manzur 2010).

Testosterone

Testosterone is the primary sex hormone for the maturation of sex characteristics in adolescent males. It is also involved in the increase in muscle strength and bone mineral content during puberty (Seeman 2001; Wood 2015). Testosterone is a steroid hormone produced by the testes and the adrenal glands and belongs to a group of male hormones known as androgens. The production of this hormone is regulated by the hypothalamus and pituitary gland.

Long-term corticosteroid treatment in prepubertal boys can slow down growth and delay puberty compared to their healthy peers (Wood 2015). All but one of 44 boys with DMD aged 13 years and upwards assessed at Cincinnati Children's Hospital were prepubertal, compared to the 50% of healthy UK boys who are in puberty by 12 years of age (Bianchi 2011a; Bonifati 2000). Although not clearly understood, high doses of corticosteroids inhibit or reduce the secretion of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone by the hypothalamus, which in turn down-regulates pituitary gonadotrophin production. Corticosteroids may also have a direct effect on the testes to reduce testosterone production. A deficiency in testosterone can delay the onset of puberty (Al-Harbi 2008; Eastell 1998; Hampson 2002; Kamischke 1998a; Reid 1985). The absence or delay of puberty has a significant adverse effect on bone health, which is already poor in those with DMD due to corticosteroid treatment, diminishing muscle mass, and reduced mobility (Bianchi 2011a; Fairfield 2001; Guzman 2012; Reid 1985). Hypogonadism increases the risk of osteoporosis and fractures. Testosterone is an important hormone involved in the development of bone and in the maintenance of bone mineral density in adolescence and adulthood (Amory 2004; Devogelaer 1992; Katznelson 1996; Kenny 2001; Leder 2002; Tenover 1992).

Weight-bearing exercise

In DMD patients over eight years of age, there is a gradual decline in physical activity due to natural disease progression (Mazzone 2011; McDonald 2010). Weight-bearing exercise, for example, walking, stimulates bone regeneration. Dynamic-loading activity achieves greater gains in bone tissue than static activity (Lanyon 1984). Muscle weakness hinders dynamic weight-bearing exercise and has a negative impact on bone development. Disuse of the skeleton as a result of prolonged inactivity degenerates bone tissue further.

How the intervention might work

In children with corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis, the rate of bone resorption exceeds that of bone formation. The main focus of interventions is either to slow bone resorption or promote bone formation to increase bone mineral density whilst receiving corticosteroid therapy. These interventions can be used alone or in combination to prevent or treat bone loss.

Bisphosphonates

Bisphosphonates are drugs that inhibit bone resorption by causing apoptosis of osteoclasts (Fleisch 2003; Poole 2012; Rogers 2011; Russell 2008). They are inorganic analogues of naturally occurring pyrophosphates, which prevent calcification by binding to hydroxyapatite salt in bone (Nancollas 2006; Russell 2011; Sebestyen 2012). Bisphosphonates accumulate at bone resorption sites in the skeleton and stop osteoclast-mediated activity (Dominguez 2011; Drake 2008; Fleisch 2003; Hughes 1989; Hughes 1995; Sato 1991; Sebestyen 2012; Somalo 2007). There are two groups of bisphosphonates: non-nitrogen-containing bisphosphonates (etidronate, clodronate, and tiludronate) and nitrogen-containing bisphosphonates (alendronate, risedronate, ibandronate, pamidronate, and zoledronate). The presence of a nitrogen or amino group in the chemical structure of bisphosphonates increases the potency of the drugs for osteoclastic activity (Drake 2008; Ebetino 2011; Reszka 2004). These more potent nitrogen-containing bisphosphonates are often used to treat

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

children with corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and osteopenia (Allington 2005; Black 2012; Brumsen 1997; Hawker 2005; Poole 2012; Rudge 2005; Schwartz 2010; Sholas 2005).

Calcium

Calcium is essential to enable normal bone growth and development in children and adolescents (Flynn 2003; Peacock 2010). When combined with phosphate, calcium has a structural role in bone health as a component of bone matrix hydroxyapatite, which provides compressional strength in bone (Bonjour 2011; Peacock 2010). During remodelling, bone turns over calcium. Remodelling activity determines the amount of calcium required to maintain bone health, and this varies throughout life (Mesias 2011). Calcium requirements are greater during adolescence as growth peaks, and approximately 40% of total skeletal bone mass is acquired (Flynn 2003; Greer 2006; Mesias 2011; Weaver 2006). Calcium deficiency can contribute to the development of osteoporosis. Not only is there inadequate calcium for bone mineralisation, but bone calcium stores are deleted to maintain blood calcium levels. Reduced blood calcium levels triggers parathyroid hormone (PTH) release (Peacock 2010). PTH stimulates osteoclasts and bone resorption. High blood calcium levels result in calcitonin release, which inhibits osteoclast activity, promoting bone formation and storage of excess calcium in the bone matrix.

The relationship between calcium intake and bone mass is complicated in DMD patients because corticosteroid treatment induces bone resorption, transferring calcium from bone to blood. High blood calcium levels prevent further intestinal calcium absorption to build bone. However, adequate calcium intake could slow bone resorption and contribute to improving bone health in boys and adolescents with DMD (Bianchi 2011; Quinlivan 2010). Many intervention studies in DMD patients have advised a daily calcium supplement of 750 mg (Hawker 2005; Mayo 2012).

Vitamin D

Vitamin D is vital for intestinal calcium absorption (Frolik 1971; Wei 2010). It may also have its own protective effect on bone

(Bartoszewska 2010; Peppone 2010). Vitamin D² (ergocalciferol) is largely man-made and present in supplemented food. The

skin synthesises vitamin D³ (cholecalciferol) after exposure to sunlight, and it is also available in the diet (Misra 2008). The liver metabolises vitamin D into calcifediol (25-dihydroxyvitamin

D3 (25OHD)), which the kidneys convert to the active calcitriol

(1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D³) (Peppone 2010). Vitamin D deficiency can cause rickets in children and osteomalacia in adults from poor bone mineralisation (Holick 2007; Pela 2012; Misra 2008; Wagner 2008; Ward 2007a). To a lesser extent, vitamin D deficiency contributes to bone resorption and osteoporosis (Joyce 2012; Lips 2006). Many children and young adults in the UK have vitamin D insufficiency from increased use of sunscreens and reduced outdoor activities (Biggar 2005; Davies 2011; Lips 2012; Misra 2008; Pela 2012). Its prevalence, especially in non-white families, is underappreciated (Ahmed 2011; Kehler 2013; Lips 2010; Shaw 2011; Zipitis 2006).

Calcitriol slows bone resorption and enhances bone mineralisation because it aids calcium absorption. Calcitriol influences the genes that control neuromuscular cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis (Banerjee 2003; Carlberg 2003; Garcia 2011). There is little evidence that increasing vitamin D intake alone reduces the risk of fractures (Bischoff-Ferrari 2005; DIPART 2010; Looker 2008).

Testosterone

Testosterone therapy increases trabecular bone density (Katznelson 1996). Testosterone is used to reverse delayed puberty, reduced growth, and osteoporosis exacerbated by corticosteroid use in DMD (Bianchi 2011a).

Testosterone replacement therapy is started in low doses at around 14 years of age and increased over three to four years until adult levels are reached. The expected benefits include an increase in bone density, muscle strength, and energy levels from a pubertal growth spurt.

Testosterone supplementation can also increase height and improve quality of life during adolescence and young adulthood from an improved body image (Landon 1984; Mason 2011). A metaanalysis of eight RCTs examining the use of testosterone in 365 men found moderate gains in lumbar bone density (Tracz 2006). Three of the eight studies included men taking corticosteroids (N = 87). The meta-analysis concluded that the effect of testosterone was weak with regard to osteoporosis prevention and treatment in men, as no bone fracture data were available. Another review of RCTs for the effects of testosterone improved bone mineral density at the lumbar spine by 3.7% (CI 1.0% to 6.4%) compared to placebo (Isidori 2005).

Weight-bearing exercise

The most evident decline in vertebral bone mineral density in DMD appears to occur with the loss of independent ambulation, regardless of whether or not the patient is taking corticosteroids (Biggar 2004; Crabtree 2010; Mayo 2012). A reduction in mechanical loading reduces osteoblast bone formation and promotes osteoclast-mediated bone resorption (Takata 2001). A study revealed that bone mineral density at a number of sites including the lumbar spine improved with calcium and exercise in prepubertal and early pubertal boys (Bass 2007; Iuliano-Burns 2003; Stear 2003). The Iowa Bone Development Study found significant longitudinal associations between physical activity that increased

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

the mechanical loading of the skeleton in boys aged five years and bone mineral content of the hip at eight and 11 years of age (Janz 2010). Growing bone adapts to withstand mechanical loading. In boys with DMD, standing programs and prolongation of walking using mechanical walking aids are common components of management (Pedlow 2015), and boys have shown improvement in vertebral bone mineral density and function capacity (Bianchi 2013; Spencer 1962). More recently, high-frequency, low-intensity whole-body vibration appeared to improve bone health in children and adolescents with a disability (Matute-Llorente 2015; Reyes 2011; Ruck 2010), but was inconclusive in people with DMD (Söderpalm 2013). Regular low-intensity and appropriate exercise strengthens bone tissue, as well as improving the balance of action between opposing muscle groups and balance while standing and moving (Bushby 2010; Grange 2007; Jansen 2010). These interventions could reduce the risk of fractures in non-ambulant boys (Ward 2004).

Why it is important to do this review

Corticosteroids delay the loss of ambulation and cardiorespiratory failure in patients with DMD. However, boys require treatment for many years, and the risk of vertebral fragility and possibly longbone fractures is high. Identifying treatment strategies to prevent and treat osteoporosis and prevent fragility fractures will improve the quality of life for these patients.

OBJECTIVES

To assess the effects of interventions to delay or treat osteoporosis in children and adults with DMD taking long-term corticosteroids; to assess the effects of these interventions on the frequency of vertebral fragility fractures and long-bone fractures, and on quality of life; and to assess adverse events.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We searched for all randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and quasi-RCTs involving treatment or prevention of corticosteroidinduced osteoporosis and prevention of fragility fractures in patients with DMD who were taking corticosteroids. Quasi-RCTs employ methods of allocation that are not truly randomised (for example, by alternation or using date of birth or hospital number).

Types of participants

We considered for inclusion in the review all children, adolescents, and adults with a diagnosis of DMD, with any pathogenic mutation, deletion, or duplication confirmed by genetic testing or muscle biopsy showing the complete absence of dystrophin.

Types of interventions

We considered for inclusion in the review any intervention to prevent or treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis or prevent fragility fractures in patients with DMD compared with placebo, another intervention, or no treatment (no available standard care). The interventions included oral and intravenous bisphosphonates (including both non-amino and amino groups), vitamin D supplements, calcium supplements, dietary calcium, testosterone, and weight-bearing activity.

We planned to analyse oral and intravenous bisphosphonates separately.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

1. Change in vertebral bone mineral density measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) and expressed as a Zscore (which is based on age-matched results with a correction for body height) between baseline and 24 months of intervention. The presence of vertebral compression fractures could artificially increase bone mineral density and produce higher Z-scores in an individual. However, we considered this effect unlikely to influence the outcome of a meta-analysis.

Secondary outcomes

Secondary outcomes measured between baseline and 24 months of intervention.

1. The number of vertebral fragility fractures, defined as one or a combination of the following: end-plate deformity with a reduction in the mid-vertebral height (biconcavity), decrease in the anterior vertebral height (wedging), or reduction in the anterior and posterior vertebral height (compression or crush). Identification of such vertebral fractures was based on visual evaluation with an assessment of grade or severity linked to vertebral height, shape, and appearance (Baim 2008), for example, using the Genant visual semi-quantitative method (Genant 1993). Fractures were detected using lateral spinal Xray, DXA vertebral fracture assessment (VFA), computedtomography (CT) scans, or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

2. The number of long-bone fractures.

3. Change in reported bone pain measured using a standardised pain score (McGrath 2008), such as the visual analogue scale (VAS) (Scott 1979; Zebracki 2008).

4. Change in quality of life, measured using a validated rating scale, for example, the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory (PedsQL) (Varni 2001), Neuromuscular Module and Generic Core Scales (Davis 2010).

5. Any adverse events; adverse events that led to the withdrawal of treatment; serious adverse events that are fatal, life-threatening, or led to prolonged hospitalisation; and specific adverse events, such as jaw osteonecrosis and atypical femur fractures.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

On 12 September 2016, we searched the following databases to identify potentially eligible trials:

- the Cochrane Neuromuscular Specialised Register;
- CENTRAL (the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials) in the Cochrane Register of Studies Online;
 - MEDLINE OvidSP (1966 to September 2016);
 - Embase OvidSP (1980 to September 2016);
- CINAHL (Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature) Plus (1982 to September 2016); and
- Web of Science Core Collection (Proceedings paper or Meeting abstract) (2001 to September 2016).

We did not limit our search by language or publication status. The detailed search strategies are in the appendices.

- Cochrane Neuromuscular Specialised Register (Appendix 1)
- CENTRAL (Appendix 2)
- MEDLINE (Appendix 3)
- Embase (Appendix 4)
- CINAHL Plus (Appendix 5)
- WOS (Appendix 6)

Searching other resources

In addition, we searched the following registries to identify unpublished data, unpublished studies, and ongoing trials:

• US National Institutes of Health Ongoing Trials Register ClinicalTrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov; searched 11 October 2011);

• the World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP, apps.who.int/trialsearch; searched 11 October 2011); and

• the ISRCTN registry (www.isrctn.com; searched 11 October 2011).

We presented detailed search strategies in the appendices.

- ClinicalTrials.gov (Appendix 7)
- ICTRP (Appendix 8)
- ISRCTN registry (Appendix 9)

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Two review authors (JMB and MS) independently reviewed titles and abstracts from the electronic search results and selected papers for full-text review according to the inclusion criteria. We obtained the full text of all potentially relevant studies for further assessment and selected studies that met the inclusion criteria. We would have resolved disagreements by discussion, but there were no disagreements. We agreed by discussion to contact five study authors to obtain further information for clarification on published work, unpublished studies, and work in progress.

We collated multiple reports of the same study under the same study ID. We completed a PRISMA flow diagram, 'Characteristics of excluded studies' tables, and 'Characteristics of ongoing studies' tables to detail the selection process.

A lack of randomised trials, other than two abstracts, meant that the two review authors (JMB and MS) were unable to extract data.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors (JMB and MS) independently assessed the risk of bias in the included studies, and a third (BB) verified the assessments. We used the domain-based evaluation described in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011a). The domains included the following:

- 1. random sequence generation;
- 2. allocation concealment;
- 3. blinding of participants and personnel;
- 4. blinding of outcome assessors;
- 5. incomplete outcome data;
- 6. selective reporting; and
- 7. other bias.

For each domain, we graded the risk of bias as high, low, or unclear (Higgins 2011a). We contacted the trial's corresponding authors for clarification of insufficient detail in study reports. We resolved disagreements through discussion with the other review authors, and we assigned studies to the following categories.

- Low risk of bias: all domains at low risk of bias.
- High risk of bias: two or more domains at high risk of bias.

• Unclear risk of bias: one or more domains at unclear risk of bias.

We constructed a 'Risk of bias' table using RevMan to present the results. When considering treatment effects, we planned to take into account the risk of bias in the studies that contributed to the outcome.

We would have used the 'Risk of bias' assessments to perform sensitivity analyses, if sufficient data had been available.

Information on risk of bias related to unpublished data or correspondence with a trialist was noted in the 'Risk of bias' table.

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\texttt{G}}}$ 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

9

Assesment of bias in conducting the systematic review

We conducted the review according to the published protocol (Bell 2014). We would have reported any deviations from protocol in Differences between protocol and review.

Appendix 10 details methods described in the protocol to be followed if data become available for analysis in future.

Data synthesis

In the absence of meta-analysis or full-text trial reports, we presented the limited data available narratively, in the Results section.

RESULTS

Description of studies

Results of the search

The total number of potentially relevant references retrieved from each database was 645: 58 from the Cochrane Neuromuscular Specialised Register, 78 from the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), 303 from MEDLINE, 159 from Embase, 22 from CINAHL (Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature) Plus, and 25 from Web of Science ISI Proceedings. The number of references from database searches after deduplication was 506.

We identified 30 additional references from other sources: four from the US National Institutes of Health Ongoing Trials Register ClinicalTrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov), seven from the IS-RCTN registry, 17 from ICTRP, one published study from correspondence with a co-author (AH), and one unpublished study from correspondence with an author of related studies. The number of studies from these sources after deduplication was 26.

The number of references selected for further review based on their titles and abstracts was 18. Of these, only two met the inclusion criteria for the review, but only conference abstracts were available. We requested unpublished data from the authors of both studies; one responded with further information, and the second did not respond. We categorised two further studies as Ongoing studies. We illustrated the overall study selection process in a flow diagram (Figure 1).





П

Included studies

We found two randomised clinical trials that appeared relevant for inclusion in this review (see Characteristics of included studies). McSweeney 2014 assessed the effects of bisphosphonate therapy (risedronate 1 mg/kg, maximum 35 mg) combined with calcium (500 mg/day) and vitamin D (10 mg/day) compared to calcium and vitamin D alone in a randomised controlled trial (RCT) involving 13 boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD). The median age of participants was 8.5 years (range 5.4 to 15.5 years); nine boys were ambulant and on corticosteroid therapy. The abstract did not provide information on funding sources.

Bianchi 2013 investigated weight-bearing activity (low-magnitude high-frequency vibration) compared to the effects of a placebo device on bone mineral density in 21 ambulant boys who had received corticosteroids for at least six months. The trial had a prospective, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled design. The abstract did not provide information on funding sources. Both studies were reported in conference abstracts, but there was insufficient information available to collect outcome data or assess risk of bias. We contacted both primary authors for further information: Bianchi 2013 had no further information to offer until publication, and we received no response from McSweeney 2014. We do not have information on when we can expect full publication of the results.

Excluded studies

We excluded 14 studies that did not meet the inclusion criteria for this review (see Characteristics of excluded studies). The reasons for rejection were that the studies did not include patients with DMD in the study population (Adachi 2001; Cohran 2013), were not randomised (Bianchi 2011; Biggar 2004; Cohran 2008, Hawker 2005; Houston 2014; Mayo 2012; Srinivasan 2016; Sbrocchi 2012; Söderpalm 2013), or did not assess the effects of the intervention on bone health (Dubowitz 1984; Scott 1981; Yilmaz 2004).

Ongoing studies

We found two ongoing clinical studies (see Characteristics of ongoing studies). The first was a RCT to assess the effect of a novel whole-body vibration therapy on bone health as well as muscle strength (NCT01954940). This trial was registered on 13 September 2013, with an estimated recruitment end date in March 2015. The study is still recruiting participants (last verified 26 July 2016). The second was a RCT of zoledronic acid (Aclasta) versus vitamin D plus calcium in children and adolescents with DMD, to assess change in lumbar spine bone density over 12 months (ACTRN12610000507088). The trial was registered on 18 June 2010, and the anticipated date of the enrollment of the last participant is 31 December 2016.

Risk of bias in included studies

See Characteristics of included studies and Figure 1 and Figure 2 for 'Risk of bias' assessments. As information was only available from abstracts, we were limited in our ability to fully assess risk of bias. We assessed random sequence generation as low risk for both studies (Bianchi 2013; McSweeney 2014) and blinding as low risk for (Bianchi 2013). We assessed all other domains as unclear.



Figure 2. 'Risk of bias' summary: review authors' judgements about each 'Risk of bias' item for each included study. Green = low risk of bias; yellow = unclear risk of bias; red (not shown) = high risk of bias.

Effects of interventions

Risedronate, calcium, and vitamin D versus calcium and vitamin D alone

Studied in McSweeney 2014

McSweeney 2014 (N = 13) randomised participants with a spine Z-score less than -1.0 to risedronate plus calcium and vitamin D (N = 6) or to calcium and vitamin D alone (N = 7). At baseline and 12 months, investigators measured the spine and whole body bone mineral density Z-score in both groups (Table 1). The study authors reported a significant improvement in bone mineral den-

sity of the spine and whole body at 12 months compared to baseline in the risedronate group. The published abstract reported no information on fractures. Nine participants were ambulant and taking corticosteroid therapy, but it is unclear whether those taking risdronate were ambulant. If current practice was applied, all participants given risdronate would be taking corticosteroids. The abstract did not provide information on adverse events.

Weight-bearing activity (low-magnitude highfrequency vibration) versus placebo device

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

13

Studied in Bianchi 2013

Bianchi 2013 examined the benefits of low-magnitude high-frequency vibration by randomising 21 ambulant children with DMD taking corticosteroids (mean age 9.3 ± 3.9 years) to either vibration devices (N = 11) or placebo devices (N = 10). Spine, hip, and whole-body bone mineral density measurements were taken at baseline, six, and 12 months to monitor change in each treatment group. Bone mineral density significantly increased at 12 months versus baseline in the active group only (spine bone mineral apparent density (BMAD): +7.9%, P < 0.02; total body (TB): +6.8%, P < 0.02; femoral neck: +9.8%, P < 0.01). There was "no change or a decrease" in bone mineral density versus baseline in the placebo group (spine BMAD: -2.9%; TB: -3.9%; femoral neck: -4.8%). All children tolerated whole-body vibration treatment. The abstract provided no information on fractures.

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

This review was only able to include two randomised studies involving a total of 34 boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) (Bianchi 2013; McSweeney 2014). One study compared risedronate plus calcium and vitamin D with calcium and vitamin D alone; the other compared the effects of whole-body vibration with a placebo intervention. Neither study was published except in abstract form. Although each trial reported improvements in bone mineral density with active treatment over baseline, the abstracts provide insufficient data for analysis or to assess the quality of the evidence.

Evidence from non-randomised studies

In the absence of data from studies meeting the inclusion criteria for this review, we detailed results of non-randomised studies to inform future trial design and provide a platform for new RCTs of needed interventions to improve or stabilise bone health in DMD.

Bisphosphonates

No RCTs of alendronate in boys with DMD have been conducted. A small retrospective study assessed the effects of alendronate in 29 participants with DMD with a mean age of 12 years (23/29 participants had been treated with corticosteroids) (Houston 2014). Nineteen boys had dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) measurements taken during alendronate treatment over a mean of 3.7 years. This study reported a non-significant effect in favour of alendronate on lumbar spine bone mineral density Z-score (Houston 2014). The lumbar spine bone mineral density Z-score increased from -2.09 to -1.65 (P = 0.38). In comparison, seven participants

not taking alendronate but taking corticosteroids only also showed an increase in the mean lumbar spine Z-score (from -1.71 to -1.44 (P = 0.30). This increase could have been caused artificially by scoliosis. In another study, 16 boys taking alendronate over two years maintained a mean lumbar spine Z-score of less than -1 (Hawker 2005). Each boy was taking deflazacort and bone protection (calcium and vitamin D supplements). Improvements in spinal Z-scores were significantly associated with starting bisphosphonates at a younger age (P = 0.01). In both of the above studies a mild gastrointestinal side-effect was the major complaint associated with alendronate.

A retrospective study examined 52 children with DMD taking oral risedronate treatment (treated) for a mean duration of 3.6 years while taking long-term corticosteroids (Srinivasan 2016). The investigators also collected data from a historical comparison group of children with DMD who took corticosteroids alone (N = 15). Risedronate-treated children also received vitamin D supplementation of 800 IU/day to 1000 IU/day; it is not clear if the untreated children also received vitamin D. Risedronate was stopped in 9/ 52 children due to side-effects (abdominal pain, vomiting, constipation, joint pain, flu-like symptoms, and dizziness). DXA results were available in 35 children who continued risedronate treatment for over 12 months. The treated group DXA scores remained stable (mean 0.04 (standard deviation (SD) 1.3) at baseline and -0.04 (1.2) at final assessment, mean follow-up: 4.9 years). The untreated group mean (SD)-adjusted Z-score decreased from -0.1 (1.3) to -1.00 (1.3) (mean follow-up: 6.2 years). During this study, three 'treated' children, all with baseline Z-scores of less than -1 developed lumbar vertebral fractures. This study did not assess the presence of asymptomatic vertebral fractures. Given that it was not clear if the untreated group received vitamin D, it is unclear whether or not the improvement in bone mineral density was due to risedronate or vitamin D or a combination of both. Although no child experienced osteonecrosis of the jaw, a significant proportion of participants stopped taking risedronate because of sideeffects.

Sbrocchi 2012 retrospectively studied intravenous bisphosphonate (pamidronate or zoledronic acid) treatment for painful vertebral fractures in boys with DMD. At baseline, there were 27 vertebral fractures among the seven boys. After two years of bisphosphonate treatment, 17 of the fractures showed an improved vertebral height ratio, 10 vertebrae were stabilised, and no vertebrae showed a reduced vertebral height ratio. Treatment did not prevent the development of new vertebral fractures in some participants, but it did remove the associated back pain completely in three boys and improved back pain in the remaining four. The median change in lumbar spine bone mineral density Z-score was 0.5 SD (interquartile range: -0.3 to 1.7). Side-effects occurred mostly with the first dose of intravenous bisphosphonate treatment.

From the non-randomised studies available, bisphosphonate treatment may stabilise bone mineral density. It is not clear if bisphosphonates prevent fragility fractures from the data available. The

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

effect of bisphosphonates may well depend upon the time they are started in relation to bone fragility appearing.

Vitamin D and calcium

A prospective study in DMD involving 33 participants taking corticosteroids for three years reported that 67% (22 of 33) had an increase in bone mineral density in response to vitamin D (cal-

cifediol and 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (25OHD)) and increased dietary calcium (Bianchi 2011). During the first year of the study, participants had increased dietary calcium but no additional vitamin D, and the bone mineral density decreased at the lumbar spine in all participants, with measured urinary calcium and serum 25OHD levels below normal. In 20 participants, serum 25OHD levels were below 20 ng/ml. During the following years, participants took calcifediol (0.8 mcg/kg/day) and increased dietary calcium (11,236 mg/day, P < 0.001). The bone mineral density at the spine significantly increased in 22 participants, urinary calcium increased to normal levels, and serum calcium and 25OHD returned to normal levels. No vertebral fractures occurred during the three-year study, but seven fractures of the leg and foot occurred: four in the non-treatment year and three in the following treatment years. The overall increase in both lumbar spine and total body bone mineral density were not thought to be associated with an increase in body (bone) size and pubertal development, as most participants were prepubertal.

Weight-bearing exercise

Six participants with DMD (median age: 6.8 years) walking without assistance and taking corticosteroids had whole-body vibration therapy two or three times a week for 10 weeks and were assessed for one year (Söderpalm 2013). No significant changes occurred in bone mineral density in total body, spine, hip, or heel bone or bone markers after the intervention treatment period. No fractures occurred before or during the study. This was a very small observational study with no controls; hence, we could draw no clinical conclusions.

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

Limited reports from two small studies are only available in published conference proceedings at this time. There is as yet no fully published evidence from randomised trials.

Vitamin D, calcium, and testosterone

We identified no randomised or controlled trials to assess vitamin D, calcium, and testosterone treatment for corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and fragility fractures in DMD.

Quality of the evidence

We cannot fully assess the quality of the studies from the abstract publications. The two included studies met prespecified eligibility criteria and had small sample sizes (N = 13 and N = 21). Both trials reported that they randomised participants to an intervention group or no intervention or placebo group. The low-magnitude, high-frequency vibration study reported blinding (Bianchi 2013), but this was unclear in the bisphosphonate study (McSweeney 2014). From the McSweeney 2014 abstract, it was unclear if participants in the intervention group were taking corticosteroids or not.

Of the excluded studies, four were retrospective cohort studies or uncontrolled studies with a small sample size (Biggar 2004; Cohran 2008; Hawker 2005; Srinivasan 2016). These studies had many limitations and provided very low quality evidence.

Potential biases in the review process

There were few limitations to this process. The small randomised controlled trials performed in DMD are unlikely to capture and provide high-quality adverse event data, especially for rare events. The comprehensive searches were updated throughout the review process when necessary.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

We examined published systematic reviews that analysed interventions to prevent corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and fragility fractures in other conditions.

Bisphosphonates

Reviews of treatments for corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis in cystic fibrosis, neuromuscular disease, and chronic illnesses found extensive variation in the choice of bisphosphonate, dosing regimen, and outcome measurement (Conwell 2014; Ward 2007b). Bisphosphonates had a positive effect on the lumbar spine bone mineral density, especially in the short term, although there was some heterogeneity.

The trials reviewed, Conwell 2014 and Ward 2011, reported no new fractures in treatment groups over a two-year period.

In Ward 2007b, although bisphosphonates were well tolerated, the major complaint was bone pain in those taking bisphosphonates but not taking corticosteroids (odds ratio (OR) 18.52, 95% confidence interval (CI) 5.39 to 63.57, six trials). This effect was mostly related to intravenous bisphosphonates (OR 14.17, 95% CI 3.64 to 55.17) and oral risedronate (OR 43.59, 95% CI 2.27 to 837.56). Conwell 2014 listed gastrointestinal effects as a major side-effect.

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc c}$ 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Overall, both reviews found insufficient evidence to justify the routine use of the bisphosphonates in clinical care to prevent or treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and fractures (Conwell 2014; Ward 2007b). The included trials were too short to monitor vertebral fracture events and treatment adequately.

Vitamin D

Participants with cystic fibrosis taking vitamin D supplements had significantly higher serum levels (mean difference (MD) 7.24 ng/ml, 95% confidence interval 5.01 to 9.46 ng/ml) than those taking a placebo (Ferguson 2014). Vitamin D supplementation was found not to improve bone density in healthy children with normal vitamin D levels, but was found to be clinically useful in children with low serum vitamin D levels by preventing bone loss at the lumbar spine (Homik 1998; Winzenberg 2010).

The vitamin **D** Individual **P**atient **A**nalysis of **R**andomized **T**rials showed that vitamin D given alone was not effective in preventing fractures (risk ratio (RR) 0.92, 95% CI 0.86 to 0.99, P = 0.025), but if taken with calcium, the combination reduced the risk of vertebral fragility fractures (DIPART 2010). Evidence from randomised and cross-over design trials and meta-analysis supports the use of calcium in combination with vitamin D as a preventive treatment for bone loss in the spine of people treated with corticosteroids and adults over 50 years of age (Amin 1999; Homik 1998; Rianthavorn 2012; Tang 2007; Warady 1994). Further research is required to investigate the effect of vitamin D levels on bone strength of patients with DMD (Wong 2010).

Weight-bearing exercise

No useful data were available from studies of weight-bearing exercise in people over 40 with vertebral fragility fractures (Papaioannou 2003). A systematic review of vibration treatment for osteoporosis is published only as a protocol (Lorenzen 2010).

Implications for research

There is a need for good-quality RCTs of treatments for bone protection and treatment of corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD).

When fully published, the included and ongoing studies of bisphosphonates and weight-bearing activity will be important contributors to this review. Nevertheless, future RCT design and delivery needs to ensure the following:

• employment of an adequate sample size;

• that the clinical indications for starting interventions are addressed;

• that dose, duration, and type of intervention (treatment strategies) are addressed;

• employment of outcomes in addition to bone density Zscores relevant to children or adolescents, including the number of vertebral fractures, with a clear definition of type of fracture. Pain and quality of life should be also assessed during the trial period and measured using validated scales; and

• assessment of children, adolescents, and adults with DMD or those who are ambulant and non-ambulant separately, as appropriate.

In this group of patients it may not be ethical to withhold treatment or give a placebo, so comparisons could be made to routine care, alternative interventions, or between different treatment groups. It is important that the RCTs consider that age, weight, duration of corticosteroid therapy, mobility, weight-bearing activity, delayed puberty, and growth therapy will affect the outcome measures. Patient groups (children, adolescents, and adults) could be either assessed in separately designed trials, or results could be analysed separately per group to reflect these factors.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

We know of no evidence from high-quality randomised controlled trials (RCTs) about the efficacy of interventions to prevent or treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fragility fractures in DMD in children and adults, other than limited results from two trials reported in abstracts. There is no evidence of harm, but formal trial reports are awaited. Findings from two ongoing relevant studies and the two trials for which only abstracts are available will be important in future updates of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to thank Angela Gunn, Information Specialist, Cochrane Neuromuscular, for assistance with the development of the search strategy.

We thank Dr Ruth Brassington, Managing Editor, Cochrane Neuromuscular, for support and guidance during the writing process.

This review was supported by funding provided from the Cochrane Fellowship scheme, HSC R&D Division, Public Health Agency Northern Ireland.

This project was supported by the National Institute for Health Research via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to Cochrane Neuromuscular. The views and opinions expressed herein are those of

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc c}$ 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

the review authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Systematic Reviews Programme, NIHR, NHS, or the Department of Health. Cochrane Neuromuscular is also supported by the MRC Centre for Neuromuscular Diseases.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Bianchi 2013 {published data only (unpublished sought but not used)}

Bianchi ML, Vai S, Morandi L, Baranello G, Pasanisi B, Rubin C. Effects of low-magnitude high-frequency vibration on bone density, bone resorption and muscular strength in ambulant children affected by Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2013;**28**(Suppl 1):Poster No: LB-SU03. [4496416; EMBASE: 71508066]

McSweeney 2014 {published data only (unpublished sought but not used)}

EudraCT2009-017649-67. Bone health in Duchenne muscular dystrophy - a case controlled study of risedronate use. www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/search?query= eudract`number:2009-017649-67 (accessed 18 December 2015). [4496418]

* McSweeney N, McKenna M, Van Der Kamp S, Kilbane M, McDonnell C, Murphy N, et al. Risedronate use in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a pilot randomised control trial. *Hormone Research in Paediatrics* 2014;**82**(Suppl 1): 196–7. [4496419; EMBASE: 71653083]

References to studies excluded from this review

Adachi 2001 {published data only}

Adachi JD, Saag KG, Delmas PD, Liberman UA, Emkey RD, Seeman E, et al. Two-year effects of alendronate on bone mineral density and vertebral fracture in patients receiving glucocorticoids: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled extension trial. *Arthritis & Rheumatism* 2001;**44**(1):202–11. [4496421; PUBMED: 11212161]

Bianchi 2011 {published data only}

Bianchi ML, Morandi L, Andreucci E, Vai S, Frasunkiewicz J, Cottafava R. Low bone density and bone metabolism alterations in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: response to calcium and vitamin D treatment. *Osteoporosis International* 2011;**22**(2):529–39. [4496423; PUBMED: 20458570]

Biggar 2004 {published data only}

Biggar WD, Politano L, Harris VA, Passamano L, Vajsar J, Alman B, et al. Deflazacort in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a comparison of two different protocols. *Neuromuscular Disorders* 2004;**14**(8-9):476–82. [4496425; PUBMED: 15336688]

Cohran 2008 {published data only}

Cohran VC, Griffiths M, Heubi JE. Bone mineral density in children exposed to chronic glucocorticoid therapy. *Clinical Pediatrics* 2008;**47**(5):469–75. [4496427; PUBMED: 18378941]

Cohran 2013 {published data only}

Cohran V, Cassedy A, Hawkins A, Bean J, Heubi J. Oral risedronate sodium improves bone mineral density in nonambulatory patients: a randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled trial. *Journal of Pediatric Rehabilitation Medicine* 2013;**6**(2):85–93. [4496429; PUBMED: 23803341]

Dubowitz 1984 {published data only}

Dubowitz V, Hyde SA, Scott OM, Goddard C. Controlled trial of exercise in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. In: Serratrice G editor(s). *Neuromuscular diseases*. New York: Raven Press, 1984:571–5. [4496431]

Hawker 2005 {published data only}

Hawker GA, Ridout R, Harris VA, Chase CC, Fielding LJ, Biggar WD. Alendronate in the treatment of low bone mass in steroid-treated boys with Duchennes muscular dystrophy. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2005;**86**(2): 284–8. [4496433; PUBMED: 15706555]

Houston 2014 {published data only}

Houston C, Mathews K, Shibli-Rahhal A. Bone density and alendronate effects in Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients. *Muscle & Nerve* 2014;**49**(4):506–11. [4496435; PUBMED: 23835890]

Mayo 2012 {published data only}

Mayo AL, Craven BC, McAdam LC, Biggar WD. Bone health in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy on longterm daily deflazacort therapy. *Neuromuscular Disorders* 2012;**22**(12):1040–5. [4496437; PUBMED: 22824639]

Sbrocchi 2012 {published data only}

Sbrocchi AM, Rauch F, Jacob P, McCormick A, McMillan HJ, Matzinger MA, et al. The use of intravenous bisphosphonate therapy to treat vertebral fractures due to osteoporosis among boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Osteoporosis International* 2012;**23**(11):2703–11. [4496439; PUBMED: 22297733]

Scott 1981 {published data only}

Scott OM, Hyde SA, Goddard C, Jones R, Dubowitz V. Effect of exercise in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Physiotherapy* 1981;**67**(6):174–6. [4496441; PUBMED: 7029578]

Söderpalm 2013 {published data only}

Söderpalm AC, Kroksmark AK, Magnusson P, Karlsson J, Tulinius M, Swolin-Eide D. Whole body vibration therapy in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy - a prospective observational study. *Journal of Musculoskeletal* & *Neuronal Interactions* 2013;**13**(1):13–8. [4496443; PUBMED: 23445910]

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Srinivasan 2016 {published data only}

Srinivasan R, Rawlings D, Wood CL, Cheetham T, Moreno AC, Mayhew A, et al. Prophylactic oral bisphosphonate therapy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Muscle & Nerve* 2016;**54**(1):79–85. [4496445; DOI: 10.1002/mus.24991; PUBMED: 26599341]

Yilmaz 2004 {published data only}

Y₁ Imaz O, Karaduman A, Topalog lu H. Prednisolone therapy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy prolongs ambulation and prevents scoliosis. *European Journal of Neurology* 2004;**11**(8):541–4. [4496447; PUBMED: 15272899]

References to ongoing studies

ACTRN12610000507088 {published data only}

ACTRN12610000507088. Clinical trial of zoledronic acid in children and adolescents with Duchenne muscular dystrophy [Open label, randomized clinical trial of zoledronic acid (Aclasta) versus vitamin D plus calcium in children and adolescents with Duchenne muscular dystrophy, to assess change in lumbar spine bone density over 12 months]. www.anzctr.org.au/ ACTRN12610000507088.aspx (first received 15 June 2010). [4496449]

NCT01954940 {published data only}

NCT01954940. Whole body vibration therapy in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy [The effect of whole body vibration therapy upon muscle strength & function in ambulatory boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy]. www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01954940 (accessed 18 December 2015). [4496451]

Additional references

Acott 2005

Acott PD, Wong JA, Lang BA, Crocker JF. Pamidronate treatment of pediatric fracture patients on chronic steroid therapy. *Pediatric Nephrology* 2005;**20**(3):368–73. [PUBMED: 15690187]

Ahmed 2011

Ahmed SF, Franey C, McDevitt H, Somerville L, Butler S, Galloway P, et al. Recent trends and clinical features of childhood vitamin D deficiency presenting to a children's hospital in Glasgow. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2011; **96**(7):694–6. [PUBMED: 20584848]

Al-Harbi 2008

Al-Harbi TM, Bainbridge LJ, McQueen MJ, Tarnopolsky MA. Hypogonadism is common in men with myopathies. *Journal of Clinical Neuromuscular Disease* 2008;**9**(4): 397–401. [PUBMED: 18525423]

Al-Osail 2010

Al-Osail AM, Sadat-Ali M, Al-Elq AH, Al-Omran AS, Azzam Q. Glucocorticoid-related osteoporotic fractures. *Singapore Medical Journal* 2010;**51**(12):948–51. [PUBMED: 21221500]

Allen 1998

Allen DB, Julius JR, Breen TJ, Attie KM. Treatment of glucocorticoid-induced growth suppression with growth hormone. National Cooperative Growth Study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 1998;**83**(8): 2824–9. [PUBMED: 9709954]

Allington 2005

Allington N, Vivegnis D, Gerard P. Cyclic administration of pamidronate to treat osteoporosis in children with cerebral palsy or a neuromuscular disorder: a clinical study. *Acta Orthopaedica Belgica* 2005;**71**(1):91–7. [PUBMED: 15792214]

Alman 2004

Alman BA, Raza SN, Biggar WD. Steroid treatment and the development of scoliosis in males with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery* 2004;**86-A** (3):519–24. [PUBMED: 14996877]

Amin 1999

Amin S, LaValley MP, Simms RW, Felson DT. The role of vitamin D in corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis: a metaanalytic approach. *Arthritis & Rheumatism* 1999;**42**(8): 1740–51. [PUBMED: 10446876]

Amory 2004

Amory JK, Watts NB, Easley KA, Sutton PR, Anawalt BD, Matsumoto AM, et al. Exogenous testosterone or testosterone with finasteride increases bone mineral density in older men with low serum testosterone. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2004;**89**(2):503–10. [PUBMED: 14764753]

Angelini 2007

Angelini C. The role of corticosteroids in muscular dystrophy: a critical appraisal. *Muscle & Nerve* 2007;**36**(4): 424–35. [PUBMED: 17541998]

Angelini 2012

Angelini C, Peterle E. Old and new therapeutic developments in steroid treatment in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Acta Myologica* 2012;**31**(1):9–15. [PUBMED: 22655511]

Aparicio 2002

Aparicio LF, Jurkovic M, DeLullo J. Decreased bone density in ambulatory patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics* 2002;**22**(2): 179–81. [PUBMED: 11856925]

Bacciottini 2004

Bacciottini L, Tanini A, Falchetti A, Masi L, Franceschelli F, Pampaloni B, et al. Calcium bioavailability from a calciumrich mineral water, with some observations on method. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology* 2004;**38**(9):761–6. [PUBMED: 15365401]

Bachrach 2005

Bachrach LK. Taking steps towards reducing osteoporosis in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Neuromuscular Disorders* 2005;**15**(1):86–7. [PUBMED: 15639126]

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Bachrach 2011

Bachrach LK, Sills IN. Clinical report-bone densitometry in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics* 2011;**127**(1):189–94. [PUBMED: 21187316]

Baim 2008

Baim S, Leonard MB, Bianchi ML, Hans DB, Kalkwarf HJ, Langman CB, et al. Official Positions of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry and executive summary of the 2007 ISCD Pediatric Position Development Conference. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry* 2008;**11**(1): 6–21. [PUBMED: 18442749]

Balaban 2005

Balaban B, Matthews DJ, Clayton GH, Carry T. Corticosteroid treatment and functional improvement in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: long-term effect. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation* 2005;**84**(11): 843–50. [PUBMED: 16244521]

Banerjee 2003

Banerjee P, Chatterjee M. Antiproliferative role of vitamin D and its analogs - a brief overview. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 2003;**253**(1-2):247–54. [PUBMED: 14619976]

Bartoszewska 2010

Bartoszewska M, Kamboj M, Patel DR. Vitamin D, muscle function, and exercise performance. *Pediatric Clinics of North America* 2010;**57**(3):849–61. [PUBMED: 20538161]

Bass 2007

Bass SL, Naughton G, Saxon L, Iuliano-Burns S, Daly R, Briganti EM, et al. Exercise and calcium combined results in a greater osteogenic effect than either factor alone: a blinded randomized placebo-controlled trial in boys. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2007;**22**(3):458–64. [PUBMED: 17181396]

Begg 1994

Begg CB, Mazumdar M. Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias. *Biometrics* 1994;**50**(4): 1088–101. [PUBMED: 7786990]

Bianchi 2000

Bianchi ML, Cimaz R, Bardare M, Zulian F, Lepore L, Boncompagni A, et al. Efficacy and safety of alendronate for the treatment of osteoporosis in diffuse connective tissue diseases in children: a prospective multicenter study. *Arthritis & Rheumatism* 2000;**43**(9):1960–6. [PUBMED: 11014345]

Bianchi 2003

Bianchi M L, Mazzanti A, Galbiati E, Saraifoger S, Dubini A, Cornelio F, et al. Bone mineral density and bone metabolism in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Osteoporosis International* 2003;**14**(9):761–7. [PUBMED: 12897980]

Bianchi 2010

Bianchi ML, Baim S, Bishop NJ, Gordon CM, Hans DB, Langman CB, et al. Official positions of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry (ISCD) on DXA evaluation in children and adolescents. Pediatric Nephrology 2010; Vol. 25, issue 1:37–47. [PUBMED: 19603190]

Bianchi 2011a

Bianchi ML, Biggar D, Bushby K, Rogol AD, Rutter MM, Tseng B. Endocrine aspects of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscular Disorders 2011; Vol. 21, issue 4:298–303. [PUBMED: 21353552]

Bianchi 2014

Bianchi ML, Leonard MB, Bechtold S, Högler W, Mughal MZ, Schönau E, et al. Bone health in children and adolescents with chronic diseases that may affect the skeleton: the 2013 ISCD Pediatric Official Positions. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry* 2014;**17**(2):281–94. [PUBMED: 24656723]

Biggar 2005

Biggar WD, Bachrach LK, Henderson RC, Kalkwarf H, Plotkin H, Wong BL. Bone health in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a workshop report from the meeting in Cincinnati, Ohio, July 8, 2004. Neuromuscular Disorders 2005; Vol. 15, issue 1:80–5. [PUBMED: 15639125]

Biggar 2006

Biggar WD, Harris VA, Eliasoph L, Alman B. Long-term benefits of deflazacort treatment for boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy in their second decade. *Neuromuscular Disorders* 2006;**16**(4):249–55. [PUBMED: 16545568]

Bischoff-Ferrari 2005

Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Willett WC, Wong JB, Giovannucci E, Dietrich T, Dawson-Hughes B. Fracture prevention with vitamin D supplementation: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *JAMA* 2005;**293**(18): 2257–64. [PUBMED: 15886381]

Black 2002

Black RE, Williams SM, Jones IE, Goulding A. Children who avoid drinking cow milk have low dietary calcium intakes and poor bone health. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2002;**76**(3):675–80. [PUBMED: 12198017]

Black 2012

Black DM, Reid IR, Boonen S, Bucci-Rechtweg C, Cauley JA, Cosman F, et al. The effect of 3 versus 6 years of zoledronic acid treatment of osteoporosis: a randomized extension to the HORIZON-Pivotal Fracture Trial (PFT). *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2012;**27**(2):243–54. [PUBMED: 22161728]

Blake 2002

Blake DJ, Weir A, Newey SE, Davies KE. Function and genetics of dystrophin and dystrophin-related proteins in muscle. *Physiological Reviews* 2002;**82**(2):291–329. [PUBMED: 11917091]

Bolland 2015

Bolland MJ, Leung W, Tai V, Bastin S, Gamble GD, Grey A, et al. Calcium intake and risk of fracture: systematic review. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)* 2015;**351**:h4580. [PUBMED: 26420387]

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Bonifati 2000

Bonifati MD, Ruzza G, Bonometto P, Berardinelli A, Gorni K, Orcesi S, et al. A multicenter, double-blind, randomized trial of deflazacort versus prednisone in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Muscle & Nerve* 2000;**23** (9):1344–7. [PUBMED: 10951436]

Bonjour 1997

Bonjour JP, Carrie AL, Ferrari S, Clavien H, Slosman D, Theintz G, et al. Calcium-enriched foods and bone mass growth in prepubertal girls: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1997;**99**(6):1287–94. [PUBMED: 9077538]

Bonjour 2011

Bonjour JP. Calcium and phosphate: a duet of ions playing for bone health. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* 2011;**30**(5 Suppl 1):438S–48S. [PUBMED: 22081690]

Bothwell 2003

Bothwell JE, Gordon KE, Dooley JM, MacSween J, Cummings EA, Salisbury S. Vertebral fractures in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Clinical Pediatrics* 2003;**42** (4):353–6. [PUBMED: 12800730]

Brumsen 1997

Brumsen C, Hamdy NA, Papapoulos SE. Long-term effects of bisphosphonates on the growing skeleton. Studies of young patients with severe osteoporosis. *Medicine* 1997;**76** (4):266–83. [PUBMED: 9279333]

Buckner 2015

Buckner JL, Bowden SA, Mahan JD. Optimizing bone health in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *International Journal of Endocrinology* 2015;**2015**:928385. [PUBMED: 26124831]

Bushby 2004

Bushby K, Muntoni F, Urtizberea A, Hughes R, Griggs R. Report on the 124th ENMC International Workshop. Treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy; defining the gold standards of management in the use of corticosteroids. 2-4 April 2004, Naarden, The Netherlands. Neuromuscular Disorders 2004; Vol. 14, issue 8–9:526–34. [PUBMED: 15336694]

Bushby 2010

Bushby K, Finkel R, Birnkrant D J, Case LE, Clemens PR, Cripe L, et al. Diagnosis and management of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, part 2: implementation of multidisciplinary care. *The Lancet Neurology* 2010;**9**(2): 177–89. [PUBMED: 19945914]

Canalis 2004

Canalis E, Bilezikian JP, Angeli A, Giustina A. Perspectives on glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. *Bone* 2004;**34**(4): 593–8. [PUBMED: 15050888]

Carlberg 2003

Carlberg C. Current understanding of the function of the nuclear vitamin D receptor in response to its natural and synthetic ligands. *Recent Results in Cancer Research* 2003; **164**:29–42. [PUBMED: 12899512]

Chaturvedi 2001

Chaturvedi LS, Mukherjee M, Srivastava S, Mittal RD, Mittal B. Point mutation and polymorphism in Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy (D/BMD) patients. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine* 2001;**33**(4):251–6. [PUBMED: 11795488]

Clark 2006

Clark EM, Ness AR, Bishop NJ, Tobias JH. Association between bone mass and fractures in children: a prospective cohort study. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2006;**21** (9):1489–95. [PUBMED: 16939408]

Compston 2011

Compston J. Pathophysiology of atypical femoral fractures and osteonecrosis of the jaw. *Osteoporosis International* 2011;**22**(12):2951–61. [PUBMED: 21997225]

Conwell 2014

Conwell LS, Chang AB. Bisphosphonates for osteoporosis in people with cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 3. [DOI: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD002010.pub4]

Crabtree 2010

Crabtree NJ, Roper H, McMurchie H, Shaw NJ. Regional changes in bone area and bone mineral content in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy receiving corticosteroid therapy. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 2010;**156**(3):450–5. [PUBMED: 19880140]

Crabtree 2014

Crabtree NJ, Arabi A, Bachrach LK, Fewtrell M, El-Hajj Fuleihan G, Kecskemethy HH, et al. Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry interpretation and reporting in children and adolescents: the revised 2013 ISCD Pediatric Official Positions. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry* 2014;**17**(2): 225–42. [PUBMED: 24690232]

Daftary 2007

Daftary AS, Crisanti M, Kalra M, Wong B, Amin R. Effect of long-term steroids on cough efficiency and respiratory muscle strength in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Pediatrics* 2007;**119**(2):e320–4. [PUBMED: 17272595]

Davies 2011

Davies JH, Reed JM, Blake E, Priesemann M, Jackson AA, Clarke NM. Epidemiology of vitamin D deficiency in children presenting to a pediatric orthopaedic service in the UK. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics* 2011;**31**(7):798–802. [PUBMED: 21926880]

Davis 2010

Davis SE, Hynan LS, Limbers CA, Andersen CM, Greene MC, Varni JW, et al. The PedsQL in pediatric patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: feasibility, reliability, and validity of the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory Neuromuscular Module and Generic Core Scales. *Journal of Clinical Neuromuscular Disease* 2010;**11**(3):97–109. [PUBMED: 20215981]

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Deconinck 2007

Deconinck N, Dan B. Pathophysiology of Duchenne muscular dystrophy: current hypotheses. *Pediatric Neurology* 2007;**36**(1):1–7. [PUBMED: 17162189]

Devogelaer 1992

Devogelaer JP, De Cooman S, Nagant de Deuxchaisnes C. Low bone mass in hypogonadal males. Effect of testosterone substitution therapy, a densitometric study. *Maturitas* 1992; **15**(1):17–23. [PUBMED: 1528128]

Dhawan 2010

Dhawan P, Christakos S. Novel regulation of 25hydroxyvitamin D3 24-hydroxylase (24(OH)ase) transcription by glucocorticoids: cooperative effects of the glucocorticoid receptor, C/EBP beta, and the Vitamin D receptor in 24(OH)ase transcription. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* 2010;**110**(6):1314–23. [PUBMED: 20564225]

DIPART 2010

DIPART (Vitamin D Individual Patient Analysis of Randomized Trials) Group. Patient level pooled analysis of 68 500 patients from seven major vitamin D fracture trials in US and Europe. *BMJ* 2010;**340**:b5463. [PUBMED: 20068257]

Dominguez 2011

Dominguez LJ, Di Bella G, Belvedere M, Barbagallo M. Physiology of the aging bone and mechanisms of action of bisphosphonates. *Biogerontology* 2011;**12**(5):397–408. [PUBMED: 21695491]

Dooley 2013

Dooley JM, Bobbitt SA, Cummings EA. The impact of deflazacort on puberty in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Pediatric Neurology* 2013;**49**(4):292–3. [PUBMED: 23921283]

Douvillez 2005

Douvillez B, Braillon P, Hodgkinson I, Berard C. [Pain, osteopenia and body composition of 22 patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a descriptive study]. *Annales de Readaptation et de Medecine Physique* 2005;**48**(8): 616–22. [PUBMED: 16023755]

Drake 2008

Drake MT, Clarke BL, Khosla S. Bisphosphonates: mechanism of action and role in clinical practice. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 2008;**83**(9):1032–45. [PUBMED: 18775204]

Dubowitz 2002

Dubowitz V, Kinali M, Main M, Mercuri E, Muntoni F. Remission of clinical signs in early Duchenne muscular dystrophy on intermittent low-dosage prednisolone therapy. *European Journal of Paediatric Neurology* 2002;**6**(3):153–9. [PUBMED: 12363102]

Eastell 1998

Eastell R, Reid DM, Compston J, Cooper C, Fogelman I, Francis RM, et al. A UK Consensus Group on management of glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis: an update. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 1998;**244**(4):271–92. [PUBMED: 9797491]

Ebetino 2011

Ebetino FH, Hogan AM, Sun S, Tsoumpra MK, Duan X, Triffitt JT, et al. The relationship between the chemistry and biological activity of the bisphosphonates. *Bone* 2011; **49**(1):20–33. [PUBMED: 21497677]

Edwards 2010

Edwards MH, McCrae FC, Young-Min SA. Alendronaterelated femoral diaphysis fracture--what should be done to predict and prevent subsequent fracture of the contralateral side?. *Osteoporosis International* 2010;**21**(4):701–3. [PUBMED: 19562241]

Egger 1997

Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ* 1997;**315**(7109):629–34. [PUBMED: 9310563]

Emery 1991

Emery AE. Population frequencies of inherited neuromuscular diseases - a world survey. *Neuromuscular Disorders* 1991;1(1):19–29. [PUBMED: 1822774]

Emery 1998

Emery AE. The muscular dystrophies. *BMJ* 1998;**31**7 (7164):991–5. [PUBMED: 9765171]

Emery 2003

Emery FM, Muntoni F. *Duchenne muscular dystrophy.* 3rd Edition. New York: Oxford University Press, 2003.

Fairfield 2001

Fairfield WP, Finkelstein JS, Klibanski A, Grinspoon SK. Osteopenia in eugonadal men with acquired immune deficiency syndrome wasting syndrome. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2001;**86**(5):2020–6. [PUBMED: 11344201]

FDA 2011

Food, Drug Administration. Background Document for Meeting of Advisory Committee for Reproductive Health Drugs and Drug Safety and Risk Management Advisory Committee. September 9, 2011. www.fda.gov/downloads/ AdvisoryCommittees/CommitteesMeetingMaterials/Drugs/ DrugSafetyandRiskManagementAdvisoryCommittee/ UCM270958.pdf (accessed 21 December 2016).

Fenichel 1991

Fenichel GM, Florence JM, Pestronk A, Mendell JR, Moxley RT 3rd, Griggs RC, et al. Long-term benefit from prednisone therapy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Neurology* 1991;**41**(12):1874–7. [PUBMED: 1745340]

Ferguson 2014

Ferguson JH, Chang AB. Vitamin D supplementation for cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 5. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007298.pub4; PUBMED: 24823922]

Ferrari 1998

Ferrari S, Rizzoli R, Slosman D, Bonjour JP. Familial resemblance for bone mineral mass is expressed before puberty. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 1998;**83**(2):358–61. [PUBMED: 9467541]

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Fewtrell 2003

Fewtrell MS, British Paediatric & Adolescent Bone Group. Bone densitometry in children assessed by dual x ray absorptiometry: uses and pitfalls. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2003;**88**(9):795–8. [PUBMED: 12937102]

Flanigan 2009

Flanigan KM, Dunn DM, von Niederhausern A, Soltanzadeh P, Gappmaier E, Howard MT, et al. Mutational spectrum of DMD mutations in dystrophinopathy patients: application of modern diagnostic techniques to a large cohort. *Human Mutation* 2009;**30**(12):1657–66. [PUBMED: 19937601]

Flanigan 2012

Flanigan KM. The muscular dystrophies. *Seminars in Neurology* 2012;**32**(3):255–63. [PUBMED: 23117950]

Fleisch 2003

Fleisch H. Bisphosphonates in osteoporosis. *European Spine Journal* 2003;**12 Suppl 2**:S142–6. [PUBMED: 13680318]

Flynn 2003

Flynn A. The role of dietary calcium in bone health. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 2003;**62**(4):851–8.

Frolik 1971

Frolik CA, Deluca HF. 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol: the metabolite of vitamin D responsible for increased intestinal calcium transport. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 1971;**147**(1):143–7. [PUBMED: 4329860]

Garcia 2011

Garcia LA, King KK, Ferrini MG, Norris KC, Artaza JN. 1, 25(OH)2vitamin D3 stimulates myogenic differentiation by inhibiting cell proliferation and modulating the expression of promyogenic growth factors and myostatin in C2C12 skeletal muscle cells. *Endocrinology* 2011;**152**(8):2976–86. [PUBMED: 21673099]

Genant 1993

Genant HK, Wu CY, van Kuijk C, Nevitt MC. Vertebral fracture assessment using a semiquantitative technique. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 1993;**8**(9):1137–48. [PUBMED: 8237484]

Girgis 2010

Girgis CM, Seibel MJ. Atypical femur fractures: a complication of prolonged bisphosphonate therapy?. The Medical Journal of Australia 2010; Vol. 193, issue 4:196–8. [PUBMED: 20712536]

Glorieux 1998

Glorieux FH, Bishop NJ, Plotkin H, Chabot G, Lanoue G, Travers R. Cyclic administration of pamidronate in children with severe osteogenesis imperfecta. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 1998;**339**(14):947–52. [PUBMED: 9753709]

Goulding 1998

Goulding A, Cannan R, Williams SM, Gold EJ, Taylor RW, Lewis-Barned NJ. Bone mineral density in girls with forearm fractures. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 1998;**13**(1):143–8. [PUBMED: 9443800]

Goulding 2004

Goulding A, Rockell JE, Black RE, Grant AM, Jones IE, Williams SM. Children who avoid drinking cow's milk are at increased risk for prepubertal bone fractures. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 2004;**104**(2):250–3. [PUBMED: 14760576]

Goulding 2005

Goulding A, Grant AM, Williams SM. Bone and body composition of children and adolescents with repeated forearm fractures. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2005;**20**(12):2090–6. [PUBMED: 16294262]

Granata 1991

Granata C, Giannini S, Villa D, Bonfiglioli Stagni S, Merlini L. Fractures in myopathies. *La Chirurgia degli Organi di Movimento* 1991;**76**(1):39–45. [PUBMED: 1893785]

Grange 2007

Grange RW, Call JA. Recommendations to define exercise prescription for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Exercise* and Sport Sciences Reviews 2007;**35**(1):12–7. [PUBMED: 17211188]

Greer 2006

Greer FR, Krebs NF, American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Nutrition. Optimizing bone health and calcium intakes of infants, children, and adolescents. *Pediatrics* 2006;**117**(2):578–85. [PUBMED: 16452385]

Griggs 1991

Griggs RC, Moxley RT 3rd, Mendell JR, Fenichel GM, Brooke MH, Pestronk A, et al. Prednisone in Duchenne dystrophy. A randomized, controlled trial defining the time course and dose response. Clinical Investigation of Duchenne Dystrophy Group. *Archives of Neurology* 1991; **48**(4):383–8. [PUBMED: 2012511]

Guzman 2012

Cruz Guzmán Odel R, Chávez García AL, Rodríguez-Cruz M. Muscular dystrophies at different ages: metabolic and endocrine alterations. *International Journal of Endocrinology* 2012;**2012**:485376. [PUBMED: 22701119]

Hampson 2002

Hampson G, Bhargava N, Cheung J, Vaja S, Seed PT, Fogelman I. Low circulating estradiol and adrenal androgens concentrations in men on glucocorticoids: a potential contributory factor in steroid-induced osteoporosis. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental* 2002;**51**(11): 1458–62. [PUBMED: 12404198]

Harvey 2012

Harvey NC, Cole ZA, Crozier SR, Kim M, Ntani G, Goodfellow L, et al. Physical activity, calcium intake and childhood bone mineral: a population-based cross-sectional study. *Osteoporosis International* 2012;**23**(1):121–30. [PUBMED: 21562877]

Henderson 2002

Henderson RC, Lark RK, Kecskemethy HH, Miller F, Harcke HT, Bachrach SJ. Bisphosphonates to treat osteopenia in children with quadriplegic cerebral palsy: a randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 2002;**141**(5):644–51. [PUBMED: 12410192]

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Higgins 2011a

Higgins JPT, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Higgins 2011b

Deeks JJ, Higgins JPT, Altman DG (editors). Chapter 9: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JPT, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Holick 2007

Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 2007;**357**(3):266–81. [PUBMED: 17634462]

Homik 1998

Homik J, Suarez-Almazor ME, Shea B, Cranney A, Wells G, Tugwell P. Calcium and vitamin D for corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 1998, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000952]

Houde 2008

Houde S, Filiatrault M, Fournier A, Dubé J, D'Arcy S, Bérubé D, et al. Deflazacort use in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: an 8-year follow-up. *Pediatric Neurology* 2008; **38**(3):200–6. [PUBMED: 18279756]

Hsu 1979

Hsu JD. Extremity fractures in children with neuromuscular disease. *The Johns Hopkins Medical Journal* 1979;**145**(3): 89–93. [PUBMED: 470294]

Huber 2010

Huber AM, Gaboury I, Cabral DA, Lang B, Ni A, Stephure D, et al. Prevalent vertebral fractures among children initiating glucocorticoid therapy for the treatment of rheumatic disorders. *Arthritis Care & Research* 2010;**62**(4): 516–26. [PUBMED: 20391507]

Hughes 1989

Hughes DE, MacDonald BR, Russell RG, Gowen M. Inhibition of osteoclast-like cell formation by bisphosphonates in long-term cultures of human bone marrow. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1989;**83**(6): 1930–5. [PUBMED: 2524504]

Hughes 1995

Hughes DE, Wright KR, Uy HL, Sasaki A, Yoneda T, Roodman GD, et al. Bisphosphonates promote apoptosis in murine osteoclasts in vitro and in vivo. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 1995;**10**(10):1478–87. [PUBMED: 8686503]

Hussein 2014

Hussein G, Mansour L, Ghafar HA, Mostafa FA, Fawaz L. Short-term effects of corticosteroid therapy on cardiac and skeletal muscles in muscular dystrophies. *Journal of Investigative Medicine* 2014;**62**(6):875–9. [PUBMED: 24866459]

Isaacs 2010

Isaacs JD, Shidiak L, Harris IA, Szomor ZL. Femoral insufficiency fractures associated with prolonged bisphosphonate therapy. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* 2010;**468**(12):3384–92. [PUBMED: 20809164]

ISCD 2007

Rauch F, Plotkin H, DiMeglio L, Engelbert RH, Henderson RC, Munns C, et al. Fracture prediction and the definition of osteoporosis in children and adolescents: the ISCD 2007 Pediatric Official Positions. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry* 2008;**11**(1):22–8.

Isidori 2005

Isidori AM, Giannetta E, Greco EA, Gianfrilli D, Bonifacio V, Isidori A, et al. Effects of testosterone on body composition, bone metabolism and serum lipid profile in middle-aged men: a meta-analysis. *Clinical Endocrinology* 2005;**63**(3):280–93. [PUBMED: 16117815]

Iuliano-Burns 2003

Iuliano-Burns S, Saxon L, Naughton G, Gibbons K, Bass SL. Regional specificity of exercise and calcium during skeletal growth in girls: a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2003;**18**(1):156–62. [PUBMED: 12510818]

Jansen 2010

Jansen M, de Groot IJ, van Alfen N, Geurts ACh. Physical training in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: the protocol of the No Use is Disuse study. *BMC Pediatrics* 2010;**10**:55. [PUBMED: 20691042]

Janz 2010

Janz KF, Letuchy EM, Eichenberger Gilmore JM, Burns TL, Torner JC, Willing MC, et al. Early physical activity provides sustained bone health benefits later in childhood. *Medicine & Science in Sports and Exercise* 2010;**42**(6): 1072–8.

Joyce 2012

Joyce NC, Hache LP, Clemens PR. Bone health and associated metabolic complications in neuromuscular diseases. *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics* of North America 2012;**23**(4):773–99. [PUBMED: 23137737]

Kamischke 1998a

Kamischke A, Kemper DE, Castel MA, Lüthke M, Rolf C, Behre HM, et al. Testosterone levels in men with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with or without glucocorticoid therapy. *The European Respiratory Journal* 1998;**11**(1):41–5. [PUBMED: 9543268]

Katznelson 1996

Katznelson L, Finkelstein JS, Schoenfeld DA, Rosenthal DI, Anderson EJ, Klibanski A. Increase in bone density and lean body mass during testosterone administration in men with acquired hypogonadism. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 1996;**81**(12):4358–65. [PUBMED: 8954042]

Kehler 2013

Kehler L, Verma S, Krone R, Roper E. Vitamin D deficiency in children presenting to the emergency

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

department: a growing concern. Vitamin D deficiency in Birmingham's children: presentation to the emergency department. *Emergency Medicine Journal* 2013;**30**(9): 717–9. [PUBMED: 22962047]

Kenny 2001

Kenny AM, Prestwood KM, Gruman CA, Marcello KM, Raisz LG. Effects of transdermal testosterone on bone and muscle in older men with low bioavailable testosterone levels. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 2001;**56**(5):M266–72. [PUBMED: 11320105]

Khatri 2008

Khatri IA, Chaudhry US, Seikaly MG, Browne RH, Iannaccone ST. Low bone mineral density in spinal muscular atrophy. *Journal of Clinical Neuromuscular Disease* 2008;**10**(1):11–7. [PUBMED: 18772695]

Kinali 2002

Kinali M, Mercuri E, Main M, Muntoni F, Dubowitz V. An effective, low-dosage, intermittent schedule of prednisolone in the long-term treatment of early cases of Duchenne dystrophy. *Neuromuscular Disorders* 2002;**12 Suppl 1**: \$169–74. [PUBMED: 12206813]

King 2007

King WM, Ruttencutter R, Nagaraja HN, Matkovic V, Landoll J, Hoyle C, et al. Orthopedic outcomes of longterm daily corticosteroid treatment in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Neurology* 2007;**68**(19):1607–13. [PUBMED: 17485648]

Landon 1984

Landon C, Rosenfeld RG. Short stature and pubertal delay in male adolescents with cystic fibrosis. Androgen treatment. *American Journal of Diseases of Children (1960)* 1984;**138**(4):388–91. [PUBMED: 6702792]

Lanyon 1984

Lanyon LE, Rubin CT. Static vs dynamic loads as an influence on bone remodelling. *Journal of Biomechanics* 1984;**17**(12):897–905. [PUBMED: 6520138]

Larson 2000

Larson CM, Henderson RC. Bone mineral density and fractures in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics* 2000;**20**(1):71–4. [PUBMED: 10641693]

Lebel 2013

Lebel DE, Corston JA, McAdam LC, Biggar WD, Alman BA. Glucocorticoid treatment for the prevention of scoliosis in children with Duchenne muscular dystrophy: long-term follow-up. *The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery. American Volume* 2013;95(12):1057–61. [PUBMED: 23783200]

Leder 2002

Leder BZ, Finkelstein JS. Gonadal steroids and the skeleton in men. Clinical aspects. *Contemporary Endocrinology: Osteoporosis: Pathophysiology and Clinical Management.* Totowa, NJ: Humana Press, 2002:393–411.

Lee 2012

Lee BL, Nam SH, Lee JH, Ki CS, Lee M, Lee J. Genetic analysis of dystrophin gene for affected male and female carriers with Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy in Korea. *Journal of Korean Medical Science* 2012;**27**(3): 274–80. [PUBMED: 22379338]

Lenchik 2004

Lenchik L, Rogers LF, Delmas PD, Genant HK. Diagnosis of osteoporotic vertebral fractures: importance of recognition and description by radiologists. *AJR American Journal of Roentgenology* 2004;**183**(4):949–58. [PUBMED: 15385286]

Leung 2011

Leung DG, Germain-Lee EL, Denger BE, Wagner KR. Report on the Second Endocrine Aspects Of Duchenne muscular dystrophy Conference December 1-2, 2010, Baltimore, Maryland, USA. Neuromuscular Disorders 2011; Vol. 21, issue 8:594–601. [PUBMED: 21763136]

Lips 2006

Lips P, Hosking D, Lippuner K, Norquist JM, Wehren L, Maalouf G, et al. The prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy amongst women with osteoporosis: an international epidemiological investigation. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 2006;**260**(3):245–54. [PUBMED: 16918822]

Lips 2010

Lips P. Worldwide status of vitamin D nutrition. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 2010; **121**(1-2):297–300. [PUBMED: 20197091]

Lips 2012

Lips P. Interaction between vitamin D and calcium. Scandinavian Journal of Clinical & Laboratory Investigation. Supplementum 2012;**243**:60–4. [PUBMED: 22536764]

Looker 2008

Looker AC, Mussolino ME. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and hip fracture risk in older U.S. white adults. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2008;**23**(1):143–50. [PUBMED: 17907920]

Lorenzen 2010

Lorenzen C, Naughton GA, Cameron M, Williams MD, Greene D. Whole body vibration for preventing and treating osteoporosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2010, Issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008417]

Maalouf 2006

Maalouf NM, Heller HJ, Odvina C V, Kim PJ, Sakhaee K. Bisphosphonate-induced hypocalcemia: report of 3 cases and review of literature. *Endocrine Practice* 2006;**12**(1): 48–53. [PUBMED: 16524863]

Manzur 2008

Manzur AY, Kuntzer T, Pike M, Swan A. Glucocorticoid corticosteroids for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2008, Issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003725.pub3; PUBMED: 18254031]

Manzur 2010

Manzur AY, Scott E, Munot P, Vijaykumar K, Muntoni F on behalf of UK NorthStar Clinical Network. UK NorthStar Neuromuscular Clinical Network (NSCN): National audit results in Duchenne muscular dystrophy

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

(DMD) corticosteroid practice, vitamin D status and bone health. *Neuromuscular Disorders* 2010;**20**(S1):S8.

Mason 2011

Mason A, Wong SC, McGrogan P, Ahmed SF. Effect of testosterone therapy for delayed growth and puberty in boys with inflammatory bowel disease. *Hormone Research in Paediatrics* 2011;**75**(1):8–13. [PUBMED: 20664179]

Matthews 2010

Matthews DJ, James KA, Miller LA, Pandya S, Campbell KA, Ciafaloni E, et al. Use of corticosteroids in a population-based cohort of boys with duchenne and becker muscular dystrophy. *Journal of Child Neurology* 2010;**25** (11):1319–24. [PUBMED: 20207610]

Matute-Llorente 2015

Matute-Llorente A, González-Agüero A, Gómez-Cabello A, Olmedillas H, Vicente-Rodríguez G, Casajús JA. Effect of whole body vibration training on bone mineral density and bone quality in adolescents with Down syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. *Osteoporosis International* 2015;**26**(10):2449–59. [PUBMED: 25994905]

Mazzone 2011

Mazzone E, Vasco G, Sormani M P, Torrente Y, Berardinelli A, Messina S, et al. Functional changes in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a 12-month longitudinal cohort study. *Neurology* 2011;77(3):250–6. [PUBMED: 21734183]

McDonald 2002

McDonald DG, Kinali M, Gallagher AC, Mercuri E, Muntoni F, Roper H, et al. Fracture prevalence in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology* 2002;44(10):695–8. [PUBMED: 12418795]

McDonald 2010

McDonald CM, Henricson EK, Han JJ, Abresch RT, Nicorici A, Elfring GL, et al. The 6-minute walk test as a new outcome measure in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Muscle & Nerve* 2010;**41**(4):500–10. [PUBMED: 19941337]

McGrath 2008

McGrath PJ, Walco GA, Turk DC, Dworkin RH, Brown MT, Davidson K, et al. Core outcome domains and measures for pediatric acute and chronic/recurrent pain clinical trials: PedIMMPACT recommendations. *The Journal of Pain* 2008;**9**(9):771–83. [PUBMED: 18562251]

Merlini 2012

Merlini L, Gennari M, Malaspina E, Cecconi I, Armaroli A, Gnudi S, et al. Early corticosteroid treatment in 4 Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients: 14-year followup. *Muscle & Nerve* 2012;**45**(6):796–802. [PUBMED: 22581531]

Mesa 1991

Mesa LE, Dubrovsky AL, Corderi J, Marco P, Flores D. Steroids in Duchenne muscular dystrophy - deflazacort trial. *Neuromuscular Disorders* 1991;1(4):261–6. [PUBMED: 1822804]

Mesias 2011

Mesias M, Seiquer I, Navarro MP. Calcium nutrition in adolescence. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 2011;**51**(3):195–209. [PUBMED: 21390941]

Misra 2008

Misra M, Pacaud D, Petryk A, Collett-Solberg PF, Kappy M. Vitamin D deficiency in children and its management: review of current knowledge and recommendations. *Pediatrics* 2008;**122**(2):398–417. [PUBMED: 18676559]

Moxley 2010

Moxley RT 3rd, Pandya S, Ciafaloni E, Fox DJ, Campbell K. Change in natural history of Duchenne muscular dystrophy with long-term corticosteroid treatment: implications for management. *Journal of Child Neurology* 2010;**25**(9):1116–29. [PUBMED: 20581335]

Munot 2010

Munot P, Krishnakumar D, Robb S, Davies T, Muntoni F, Manzur A. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in 157 boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2010;**95**:A10.

Muntoni 2003

Muntoni F, Torelli S, Ferlini A. Dystrophin and mutations: one gene, several proteins, multiple phenotypes. *The Lancet Neurology* 2003;**2**(12):731–40. [PUBMED: 14636778]

Muntoni 2006

Muntoni F, Bushby K, Manzur AY. Muscular Dystrophy Campaign Funded Workshop on Management of Scoliosis in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy 24 January 2005, London, UK. *Neuromuscular Disorders* 2006;**16**(3):210–9. [PUBMED: 16497502]

Nancollas 2006

Nancollas GH, Tang R, Phipps RJ, Henneman Z, Gulde S, Wu W, et al. Novel insights into actions of bisphosphonates on bone: differences in interactions with hydroxyapatite. *Bone* 2006;**38**(5):617–27. [PUBMED: 16046206]

NICE 2012

NICE (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence) 2012. Osteoporosis: assessing the risk of fragility fracture. NICE guideline (CG146). www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg146/chapter/introduction (accessed 14 June 2016).

Palomo 2011

Palomo Atance E, Ballester Herrera MJ, Márquez de La Plata MA, Medina Cano E, Carmona Vilchez RM. Alendronate treatment of osteoporosis secondary to Duchenne muscular dystrophy [Alendronato en el tratamiento de la osteoporosis secundaria a la distrofia muscular de Duchenne]. *Anales de Pediatria* 2011;74(2):122–5. [PUBMED: 21169073]

Papaioannou 2003

Papaioannou A, Adachi JD, Winegard K, Ferko N, Parkinson W, Cook RJ, et al. Efficacy of home-based exercise for improving quality of life among elderly women with symptomatic osteoporosis-related vertebral fractures. *Osteoporosis International* 2003;**14**(8):677–82. [PUBMED: 12879220]

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Passamano 2012

Passamano L, Taglia A, Palladino A, Viggiano E, D'Ambrosio P, Scutifero M, et al. Improvement of survival in Duchenne Muscular dystrophy: retrospective analysis of 835 patients. *Acta Myologica* 2012;**31**(2):121–5. [PUBMED: 23097603]

Peacock 2010

Peacock M. Calcium metabolism in health and disease. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 2010;**5** (S1):S23–30. [PUBMED: 20089499]

Pedlow 2015

Pedlow K, McDonough S, Lennon S, Kerr C, Bradbury I. Assisted standing for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2015, Issue 3. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011550]

Pela 2012

Pela I. How much vitamin D for children?. *Clinical Cases in Mineral and Bone Metabolism* 2012;9(2):112–7. [PUBMED: 23087722]

Peppone 2010

Peppone LJ, Hebl S, Purnell JQ, Reid ME, Rosier RN, Mustian KM, et al. The efficacy of calcitriol therapy in the management of bone loss and fractures: a qualitative review. *Osteoporosis International* 2010;**21**(7):1133–49. [PUBMED: 19960185]

Petridou 1997

Petridou E, Karpathios T, Dessypris N, Simou E, Trichopoulos D. The role of dairy products and non alcoholic beverages in bone fractures among schoolage children. *Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine* 1997;**25** (2):119–25. [PUBMED: 9232722]

Plotkin 2000

Plotkin H, Rauch F, Bishop NJ, Montpetit K, Ruck-Gibis J, Travers R, et al. Pamidronate treatment of severe osteogenesis imperfecta in children under 3 years of age. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2000; **85**(5):1846–50. [PUBMED: 10843163]

Plotkin 2006

Plotkin H, Coughlin S, Kreikemeier R, Heldt K, Bruzoni M, Lerner G. Low doses of pamidronate to treat osteopenia in children with severe cerebral palsy: a pilot study. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology* 2006;**48**(9): 709–12. [PUBMED: 16904014]

Poole 2012

Poole KE, Compston JE. Bisphosphonates in the treatment of osteoporosis. *BMJ* 2012;**344**:e3211. [PUBMED: 22619192]

Popp 2006

Popp AW, Isenegger J, Buergi EM, Buergi U, Lippuner K. Glucocorticosteroid-induced spinal osteoporosis: scientific update on pathophysiology and treatment. *European Spine Journal* 2006;**15**(7):1035–49. [PUBMED: 16474946]

Quinlivan 2005

Quinlivan R, Roper H, Davie M, Shaw NJ, McDonagh J, Bushby K. Report of a Muscular Dystrophy Campaign

funded workshop Birmingham, UK, January 16th 2004. Osteoporosis in Duchenne muscular dystrophy; its prevalence, treatment and prevention. Neuromuscular Disorders 2005; Vol. 15, issue 1:72–9. [PUBMED: 15639124]

Quinlivan 2010

Quinlivan R, Shaw N, Bushby K. 170th ENMC International Workshop: bone protection for corticosteroid treated Duchenne muscular dystrophy. 27-29 November 2009, Naarden, The Netherlands. *Neuromuscular disorders* 2010;**20**(11):761–9.

Rauch 2002

Rauch F, Travers R, Plotkin H, Glorieux FH. The effects of intravenous pamidronate on the bone tissue of children and adolescents with osteogenesis imperfecta. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2002;**110**(9):1293–9. [PUBMED: 12417568]

Reid 1985

Reid IR, Ibbertson HK, France JT, Pybus J. Plasma testosterone concentrations in asthmatic men treated with glucocorticoids. *British Medical Journal (Clinical research ed.)* 1985;**291**(6495):574. [PUBMED: 2931151]

Reszka 2004

Reszka AA, Rodan GA. Nitrogen-containing bisphosphonate mechanism of action. *Mini Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry* 2004;**4**(7):711–9. [PUBMED: 15379639]

RevMan 2014 [Computer program]

Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5). Version 5.3. Copenhagen: Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Reyes 2011

Reyes ML, Hernández M, Holmgren LJ, Sanhueza E, Escobar RG. High-frequency, low-intensity vibrations increase bone mass and muscle strength in upper limbs, improving autonomy in disabled children. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2011;**26**(8):1759–66. [PUBMED: 21491486]

Rianthavorn 2012

Rianthavorn P, Pisutikul K, Deekajorndech T, Tepmongkol S, Suphapeetiporn K. Prevention of bone loss in children receiving long-term glucocorticoids with calcium and alfacalcidol or menatetrenone. *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2012;**25**(3-4):307–12. [PUBMED: 22768661]

Ricotti 2012

Ricotti V, Ridout DA, Scott E, Quinlivan R, Robb SA, Manzur AY, et al. Long-term benefits and adverse effects of intermittent versus daily glucocorticoids in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, & Psychiatry* 2013;**84**(6):698–705. [PUBMED: 23250964]

Rodd 2012

Rodd C, Lang B, Ramsay T, Alos N, Huber AM, Cabral DA, et al. Incident vertebral fractures among children with rheumatic disorders 12 months after glucocorticoid

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

initiation: a national observational study. Arthritis Care & Research 2012;64(1):122–31. [PUBMED: 22213727]

Rogers 2011

Rogers MJ, Crockett JC, Coxon FP, Mönkkönen J. Biochemical and molecular mechanisms of action of bisphosphonates. *Bone* 2011;**49**(1):34–41. [PUBMED: 21111853]

Ruck 2010

Ruck J, Chabot G, Rauch F. Vibration treatment in cerebral palsy: a randomized controlled pilot study. *Journal of Musculoskeletal & Neuronal Interactions* 2010;**10**(1):77–83. [PUBMED: 20190383]

Rudge 2005

Rudge S, Hailwood S, Horne A, Lucas J, Wu F, Cundy T. Effects of once-weekly oral alendronate on bone in children on glucocorticoid treatment. *Rheumatology* 2005;44(6): 813–8. [PUBMED: 15695300]

Russell 2008

Russell RG, Watts NB, Ebetino FH, Rogers MJ. Mechanisms of action of bisphosphonates: similarities and differences and their potential influence on clinical efficacy. *Osteoporosis International* 2008;**19**(6):733–59. [PUBMED: 18214569]

Russell 2011

Russell RG. Bisphosphonates: the first 40 years. *Bone* 2011; **49**(1):2–19. [PUBMED: 21555003]

Sato 1991

Sato M, Grasser W, Endo N, Akins R, Simmons H, Thompson DD, et al. Bisphosphonate action. Alendronate localization in rat bone and effects on osteoclast ultrastructure. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 1991;**88** (6):2095–105. [PUBMED: 1661297]

Schram 2013

Schram G, Fournier A, Leduc H, Dahdah N, Therien J, Vanasse M, et al. All-cause mortality and cardiovascular outcomes with prophylactic steroid therapy in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2013;**61**(9):948–54. [PUBMED: 23352781]

Schwartz 2010

Schwartz AV, Bauer DC, Cummings SR, Cauley JA, Ensrud KE, Palermo L, et al. FLEX Research Group. Efficacy of continued alendronate for fractures in women with and without prevalent vertebral fracture: the FLEX trial. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2010;**25**(5):976–82. [PUBMED: 20200926]

Scott 1979

Scott J, Huskisson EC. Vertical or horizontal visual analogue scales. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* 1979;**38**(6):560. [PUBMED: 317239]

Sebestyen 2012

Sebestyen JF, Srivastava T, Alon US. Bisphosphonates use in children. *Clinical Pediatrics* 2012;**51**(11):1011–24. [PUBMED: 22935217]

Seeman 2001

Seeman E. Clinical review 137: Sexual dimorphism in skeletal size, density, and strength. *The Journal of Clinical*

Endocrinology and Metabolism 2001;**86**(10):4576–84. [PUBMED: 11600506]

Shane 2010

Shane E, Burr D, Ebeling PR, Abrahamsen B, Adler RA, Brown TD, et al. Atypical subtrochanteric and diaphyseal femoral fractures: report of a task force of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2010;**25**(11):2267–94. [PUBMED: 20842676]

Shaw 2000

Shaw NJ, Boivin CM, Crabtree NJ. Intravenous pamidronate in juvenile osteoporosis. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2000;**83**(2):143–5. [PUBMED: 10906023]

Shaw 2005

Shaw NJ, Bishop NJ. Bisphosphonate treatment of bone disease. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2005;**90**(5):494–9. [PUBMED: 15851432]

Shaw 2011

Shaw N. Vitamin D and bone health in children. BMJ (Clinical research ed.) 2011; Vol. 342:d192. [PUBMED: 21266419]

Sholas 2005

Sholas M G, Tann B, Gaebler-Spira D. Oral bisphosphonates to treat disuse osteopenia in children with disabilities: a case series. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics* 2005;**25**(3):326–31. [PUBMED: 15832148]

Skversky 2011

Skversky AL, Kumar J, Abramowitz MK, Kaskel FJ, Melamed ML. Association of glucocorticoid use and low 25hydroxyvitamin D levels: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES): 2001-2006. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2011;**96**(12):3838–45. [PUBMED: 21956424]

Soderpalm 2007

Söderpalm AC, Magnusson P, Ahlander AC, Karlsson J, Kroksmark AK, Tulinius M, et al. Low bone mineral density and decreased bone turnover in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Neuromuscular Disorders* 2007;**17**(11-12): 919–28. [PUBMED: 17627820]

Soderpalm 2008

Söderpalm AC, Magnusson P, Ahlander AC, Karlsson J, Kroksmark AK, Tulinius M, et al. Bone markers and bone mineral density in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Journal* of Musculoskeletal & Neuronal Interactions 2008;**8**(1):24. [PUBMED: 18398258]

Soderpalm 2012

Söderpalm AC, Magnusson P, Åhlander AC, Karlsson J, Kroksmark AK, Tulinius M, et al. Bone mass development in patients with Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies: a 4-year clinical follow-up. *Acta Paediatrica* 2012;**101**(4): 424–32. [PUBMED: 22103559]

Soltanzadeh 2010

Soltanzadeh P, Friez MJ, Dunn D, von Niederhausern A, Gurvich OL, Swoboda KJ, et al. Clinical and genetic characterization of manifesting carriers of DMD mutations.

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Neuromuscular Disorders 2010;**20**(8):499–504. [PUBMED: 20630757]

Somalo 2007

Somalo L, Santos F. Clinical use of bisphosphonates in children. *World Journal of Pediatrics* 2007;**3**(4):245–53.

Spencer 1962

Spencer GE Jr, Vignos PJ Jr. Bracing for ambulation in childhood progressive muscular dystrophy. *The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery. American Volume* 1962;**44 A**:234–42. [PUBMED: 14039442]

Stear 2003

Stear SJ, Prentice A, Jones SC, Cole TJ. Effect of a calcium and exercise intervention on the bone mineral status of 16-18-y-old adolescent girls. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2003;77(4):985–92. [PUBMED: 12663301]

Sugiyama 2011

Sugiyama T, Suzuki S, Yoshida T, Mayama T, Hashimoto N, Suyama K, et al. Age, initial dose and dose increase are independent risk factors for symptomatic vertebral fractures in glucocorticoid-treated male patients. *Internal Medicine* 2011;**50**(8):817–24. [PUBMED: 21498928]

Sunyecz 2008

Sunyecz JA. The use of calcium and vitamin D in the management of osteoporosis. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management* 2008;4(4):827–36. [PUBMED: 19209265]

Takata 2001

Takata S, Yasui N. Disuse osteoporosis. *The Journal of Medical Investigation* 2001;**48**(3-4):147–56. [PUBMED: 11694954]

Talim 2002

Talim B, Malaguti C, Gnudi S, Politano L, Merlini L. Vertebral compression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy following deflazacort. *Neuromuscular Disorders* 2002;**12**(3): 294–5. [PUBMED: 11801403]

Tang 2007

Tang BM, Eslick GD, Nowson C, Smith C, Bensoussan A. Use of calcium or calcium in combination with vitamin D supplementation to prevent fractures and bone loss in people aged 50 years and older: a meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2007;**370**(9588):657–66. [PUBMED: 17720017]

Tenover 1992

Tenover JS. Effects of testosterone supplementation in the aging male. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 1992;**75**(4):1092–8. [PUBMED: 1400877]

Tracz 2006

Tracz MJ, Sideras K, Bolon a ER, Haddad RM, Kennedy CC, Uraga MV, et al. Testosterone use in men and its effects on bone health. A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized placebo-controlled trials. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2006;**91**(6):2011–6. [PUBMED: 16720668]

Van Staa 2000

van Staa TP, Leufkens HG, Abenhaim L, Zhang B, Cooper C. Oral corticosteroids and fracture risk: relationship to

daily and cumulative doses. *Rheumatology* 2000;**39**(12): 1383–9. [PUBMED: 11136882]

Van Staa 2001

van Staa TP, Abenhaim L, Cooper C, Zhang B, Leufkens HG. Public health impact of adverse bone effects of oral corticosteroids. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2001;**51**(6):601–7. [PUBMED: 11422020]

Van Staa 2003

Van Staa TP, Laan RF, Barton IP, Cohen S, Reid DM, Cooper C. Bone density threshold and other predictors of vertebral fracture in patients receiving oral glucocorticoid therapy. *Arthritis & Rheumatism* 2003;**48**(11):3224–9. [PUBMED: 14613287]

Varni 2001

Varni JW, Seid M, Kurtin PS. PedsQL 4.0: reliability and validity of the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory version 4.0 generic core scales in healthy and patient populations. *Medical Care* 2001;**39**(8):800–12. [PUBMED: 11468499]

Varonos 1987

Varonos S, Ansell BM, Reeve J. Vertebral collapse in juvenile chronic arthritis: its relationship with glucocorticoid therapy. *Calcified Tissue International* 1987;**41**(2):75–8. [PUBMED: 3115548]

Vestergaard 2001

Vestergaard P, Glerup H, Steffensen BF, Rejnmark L, Rahbek J, Moseklide L. Fracture risk in patients with muscular dystrophy and spinal muscular atrophy. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine* 2001;**3**(4):150–5.

Voisin 2004

Voisin V, de la Porte S. Therapeutic strategies for Duchenne and Becker dystrophies. *International Review of Cytology* 2004;**240**:1–30. [PUBMED: 15548414]

Wagner 2008

Wagner CL, Greer FR, American Academy of Pediatrics Section on Breastfeeding, American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Nutrition. Prevention of rickets and vitamin D deficiency in infants, children, and adolescents. *Pediatrics* 2008;**122**(5):1142–52. [PUBMED: 18977996]

Wagner 2011

Wagner S, Poirot I, Vuillerot C, Berard C. Tolerance and effectiveness on pain control of Pamidronate® intravenous infusions in children with neuromuscular disorders. *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine* 2011;**54**(6):348–58. [PUBMED: 21840280]

Warady 1994

Warady BD, Lindsley CB, Robinson FG, Lukert BP. Effects of nutritional supplementation on bone mineral status of children with rheumatic diseases receiving corticosteroid therapy. *The Journal of Rheumatology* 1994;**21**(3):530–5. [PUBMED: 8006898]

Ward 2004

Ward K, Alsop C, Caulton J, Rubin C, Adams J, Mughal Z. Low magnitude mechanical loading is osteogenic in children with disabling conditions. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2004;**19**(3):360–9. [PUBMED: 15040823]

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Ward 2007a

Ward LM, Gaboury I, Ladhani M, Zlotkin S. Vitamin D-deficiency rickets among children in Canada. *CMAJ Canadian Medical Association Journal* 2007;**177**(2):161–6. [PUBMED: 17600035]

Ward 2007b

Ward L, Tricco AC, Phuong P, Cranney A, Barrowman N, Gaboury I, et al. Bisphosphonate therapy for children and adolescents with secondary osteoporosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 4. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005324.pub2]

Ward 2011

Ward LM, Rauch F, Whyte MP, D'Astous J, Gates PE, Grogan D, et al. Alendronate for the treatment of pediatric osteogenesis imperfecta: a randomized placebo-controlled study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2011;**96**(2):355–64. [PUBMED: 21106710]

Weaver 2006

Weaver CM, Heaney RP. Calcium. In: Shils ME, Shike M, Ross AC, Caballero B, Cousins RJ editor(s). *Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease*. 10th Edition. Baltimore, MD: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2006:194-210.

Wei 2010

Wei MY, Giovannucci EL. Vitamin D and multiple health outcomes in the Harvard cohorts. *Molecular Nutrition* & *Food Research* 2010;**54**(8):1114–26. [PUBMED: 20486209]

Weldon 2009

Weldon D. The effects of corticosteroids on bone growth and bone density. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology* 2009;**103**(1):3–11. [PUBMED: 19663120]

Whyte 2008

Whyte MP, McAlister WH, Novack DV, Clements KL, Schoenecker PL, Wenkert D. Bisphosphonate-induced osteopetrosis: novel bone modeling defects, metaphyseal osteopenia, and osteosclerosis fractures after drug exposure ceases. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 2008;**23**(10): 1698–707. [PUBMED: 18505375]

Winzenberg 2006

Winzenberg TM, Shaw K, Fryer J, Jones G. Calcium supplementation for improving bone mineral density in children. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005119.pub2]

Winzenberg 2010

Winzenberg TM, Powell S, Shaw KA, Jones G. Vitamin D supplementation for improving bone mineral density in children. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2010, Issue 10. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006944.pub2]

Wong 2010

Wong B, Hu SY, King A, Horn P. P4.12 Vitamin D and bone health in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) patients. *Abstracts/Neuromuscular Disorders* 2010;**20**(9):662.

Wood 2015

Wood CL, Straub V, Guglieri M, Bushby K, Cheetham T. Short stature and pubertal delay in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Archives of Disease in Childhood 2015 Jul 3 [Epub ahead of print]. [PUBMED: 26141541]

Zebracki 2008

Zebracki K, Drotar D. Pain and activity limitations in children with Duchenne or Becker muscular dystrophy. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology* 2008;**50**(7): 546–52. [PUBMED: 18611207]

Zipitis 2006

Zipitis CS, Markides GA, Swann IL. Vitamin D deficiency: prevention or treatment?. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2006;**91**(12):1011–4. [PUBMED: 16945992]

References to other published versions of this review

Bell 2014

Bell JM, Blackwood B, Shields MD, Watters J, Hamilton A, Beringer T, et al. Interventions to prevent steroid-induced osteoporosis and osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 3. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD010899]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Bianchi 2013

Methods	Prospective, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled study		
Participants	Ambulant children with DMD (N = 21) (mean age: 9.3 ± 3.9 years)		
Interventions	For at least 6 months before the study, all children were treated with corticosteroids and calcifediol (0.7 mcg/kg/day) and took 100% of the calcium recommended daily allowance Randomised intervention: weight-bearing activity (low-magnitude high-frequency vi- bration (delivering 0.3 g, 30 Hz; N = 11)) or placebo devices (N = 10) for 10 minutes per day for 1 year		
Outcomes	 Bone mineral density (by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry) at spine, hip, and total body less head Laboratory tests: calcium, 25-hydroxyvitamin D, and bone turnover markers 		
Funding sources	Not stated - the abstract did not provide information on funding sources		
Declarations of interest	Not stated		
Notes	The full trial is not yet published. The conference abstract was published in 2013, but a trial start date and end date has not been provided. An email response from Bianchi 2013 confirmed that there was as yet no more published information		

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	This was a prospective, double-blind, ran- domised, placebo-controlled study
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	The study was reported as an abstract only.
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Low risk	This was a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled study
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	This was a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled study
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	The study was reported as an abstract only.

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Bianchi 2013 (Continued)

Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Unclear risk	The study was reported as an abstract only.
Other bias	Unclear risk	The study was reported as an abstract only.

McSweeney 2014

Methods	Randomised controlled trial		
Participants	Boys (N = 13) affected with DMD (median age (years): 8.5, range: 5.4 to 15.5) and spine Z-score ≤ 1.0		
Interventions	Risedronate group: risedronate 1 mg/kg per week (maximum 35 mg), calcium (500 mg/ day), and vitamin D (10 mg/day) (N = 6) Control group: calcium and vitamin D (N = 7) 9 participants were ambulant and on corticosteroid therapy. The effects were determined after 1 year of treatment with risedronate. There was not enough detail in the abstract on timing of risedronate treatment with reference to taking steroids		
Outcomes	• Effects on bone mineral density Z-score		
Funding sources	Not stated - the abstract did not provide information on funding sources		
Declarations of interest	Not stated		
Notes	The full trial is not published. A conference abstract was published in 2014. The trial start date was 22 June 2010 with no end date provided. EudraCT Number: 2009-017649-67		

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	Eligible participants (spine Z-score less than -1.0) were randomised to each treatment arm
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	The study was reported as an abstract only.
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	The study was reported as an abstract only.
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	The study was reported as an abstract only.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	The study was reported as an abstract only.

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review) Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

McSweeney 2014 (Continued)

Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Unclear risk	The study was reported as an abstract only.
Other bias	Unclear risk	The study was reported as an abstract only.

DMD: Duchenne muscular dystrophy.

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Adachi 2001	This study did not include participants with DMD.
Bianchi 2011	This study was not a RCT.
Biggar 2004	This study was not a RCT. The author confirmed this.
Cohran 2008	This study was not a RCT.
Cohran 2013	This study did not include participants with DMD.
Dubowitz 1984	This controlled study did not assess the effect of exercise on bone health
Hawker 2005	This study was a before and after trial, not a RCT.
Houston 2014	This was a retrospective cohort study, not a RCT.
Mayo 2012	This was a prospective observational study, not a RCT.
Sbrocchi 2012	This study was not a RCT.
Scott 1981	This controlled study did not assess the effect of exercise on bone health
Srinivasan 2016	This was a retrospective cohort study, not a RCT.
Söderpalm 2013	This study was not a RCT.
Yilmaz 2004	This study did not assess the effect of the intervention on bone health

DMD: Duchenne muscular dystrophy. RCT: randomised controlled trial.

Characteristics of ongoing studies [ordered by study ID]

ACTRN12610000507088

Trial name or title	Clinical trial of zoledronic acid in children and adolescents with Duchenne muscular dystrophy		
Methods	Open-label RCT		
Participants	Children and adolescents with DMD		
Interventions	Zoledronic acid (Aclasta) versus vitamin D plus calcium		
Outcomes	• Change in lumbar spine bone density over 12 months		
Starting date	1 September 2010 for the 1st recruited participant		
Contact information	email: margaret.zacharin@rch.org.au		
Notes	The trial start date was 13 September 2013, and the estimated final collection date was 31 December 2015. Trial ID number: ACTRN12610000507088 No further information was published. Source of monetary support: Altum Novartis		

NCT01954940

Trial name or title	Whole body vibration therapy in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy		
Methods	RCT, parallel assignment, open-label interventional		
Participants	Boys with DMD		
Interventions	Whole-body vibration therapy		
Outcomes	 Primary outcome measures: Safety of whole-body vibration therapy Gain in muscle strength and prolongation of ambulation from baseline to 8 weeks of therapy Secondary outcome measures: A change in muscle strength Any muscle function change Any measurable change in muscle endurance Quality of life changes Gait changes Bone health 		
Starting date	March 2014		
Contact information	Hugh McMillan, MD hmcmillan@cheo.on.ca		

NCT01954940 (Continued)

The trial start date was stated as 13 September 2013, with an estimated final collection date of March 2015.
Trial ID number: NCT01954940
No further information, including details of funding, was published

DMD: Duchenne muscular dystrophy. RCT: randomised controlled trial.

34

DATA AND ANALYSES

This review has no analyses.

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Spine and whole-body Z-scores (McSweeney 2014)

	Risedronate (plus calcium and vitamin D supplementation)		Control (calcium and vitamin D supplementation alone)	
	Baseline	12-month	Baseline	12 months
Median spine Z-score (range)	-1.75 (-1.2 to -3.5)	-0.8 (-1.7 to 0)	-2.2 (-4.1 to -1.2)	-1.6 (-8.4 to -0.8)
Median whole-body Z- score (range)	-1.95 (-0.5 to 2.7)*	1.3 (-1.0 to 2.5)	-1.2 (-1.6 to 4.7)	-0.8 (-3.1 to 3)

A median of -1.95 is outside the range given, but we were unable to confirm correct figures with the study author.

APPENDICES

Appendix I. Cochrane Neuromuscular Specialised Register (CRS) search strategy

#1 muscular NEAR5 dystroph* [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#2 duchenne or dystrophinopathy [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#3 nonambula* or "non ambula*" [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#4 #1 or #2 or #3 [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#5 "vertebral deformity" or fracture or compression or crush or wedging or biconcavity [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#6 osteoporosis [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#7 bone or bmc [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#8 (bone or bmc):so [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#9 #7 not #8 [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#10 lumbar or spine [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#11 MeSH DESCRIPTOR Diphosphonates Explode All [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#12 bisphosphonate* or diphosphonate* [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#13 alendronate or clodronate or etidronate or ibandronate or incadronate or opadronate or pamidronate or risedronate or tiludronate or zoledronate [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#14 calcitonin or calcium or calcitriol or cholecalciferol* or Ergocalciferol* [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#15 "vitamin D" [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#16 "dietary supplements" or testosterone [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#17 Teriparatide or "weight bearing" or diet or exercise [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#18 "non drug" NEXT therapy [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#19 #5 or #6 or #9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14 or #15 or #16 or #17

or #18 [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

#20 #4 and #19 [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Copyright © 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

35

#21 (#4 and #19) AND (INREGISTER) [REFERENCE] [STANDARD]

Appendix 2. CENTRAL search strategy

Search run on Mon Sep 12 2016

#1(muscular near dystrophy or duchenne near dystrophy or dystrophinopathy or non next ambula* or nonambula*):TI,AB,KY520 #2("vertebral deformity" or fracture or compression or crush or wedging or biconcavity):TI,AB,KY11862 #3(steroid near1 induced and osteoporosis):TI,AB,KY34 #4(steroid near1 induced and "bone loss"):TI,AB,KY18 #5(steroid near1 induced and osteopenia):TI,AB,KY6 #6MESH DESCRIPTOR Osteoporosis WITH QUALIFIERS CI205 #7(secondary next osteoporosis):TI,AB,KY41 #8(bone next strength):TI,AB,KY248 #9(bone next fragil*):TI,AB,KY51 #10(bone next loss):TI,AB,KY2938 #11("bone density" or "bone mineral density" or "bone mineral content" or bmc):TI,AB,KY7029 #12(bone next deformity or lumbar next spine):TI,AB,KY3340 #13MESH DESCRIPTOR Spine EXPLODE ALL TREES3740 #14MESH DESCRIPTOR Diphosphonates EXPLODE ALL TREES2659 #15(bisphosphonate* or diphosphonate*):TI,AB,KY1765 #16(alendronate or clodronate or etidronate or ibandronate or incadronate or opadronate or pamidronate or risedronate or tiludronate or zoledronate):TI,AB,KY2255 #17(calcitonin or calcium or calcitriol or ergocalciferol* or "vitamin D"):TI,AB,KY23566 #18MESH DESCRIPTOR Calcifediol EXPLODE ALL TREES215 #19("dietary supplements" or teriparatide):TI,AB,KY7410 #20("non drug" next therapy):TI,AB,KY16 #21(diet or exercise or "weight bearing" or testosterone):TI,AB,KY79090 #22#2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8 or #9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14 or #15 or #16 or #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or # 21119677 #23#1 and #22119 #24sr-neuromusc:cc5974 #25#23 not #2478

Appendix 3. MEDLINE (OvidSP) search strategy

Ovid MEDLINE(R) 1946 to August Week 5 2016

Database: Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations, Ovid MEDLINE(R) Daily and Ovid MEDLINE(R) <1946 to Present> Search Strategy:

randomized controlled trial.pt. (430785)
 controlled clinical trial.pt. (91698)
 randomized.ab. (370085)
 placebo.ab. (178870)
 drug therapy.fs. (1906928)
 randomly.ab. (263462)
 trial.ab. (384951)
 groups.ab. (1638648)
 or/1-8 (3900462)
 exp animals/ not humans.sh. (4315089)

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

11 9 not 10 (3364542) 12 exp muscular dystrophy/ (23751) 13 ((muscular adj5 dystrophy) or duchenne or dystrophinopathy).tw. (19784) 14 (non ambula* or nonambula*).mp. (1602) 15 or/12-14 (30865) 16 (vertebral deformity or fracture or compression or crush or wedging or biconcavity).mp. (270009) 17 ((steroid adj1 induced) and osteoporosis).tw. (252) 18 ((steroid adj1 induced) and bone loss).tw. (75) 19 ((steroid adj1 induced) and osteopenia).tw. (37) 20 osteoporosis/ci (2760) 21 secondary osteoporosis.tw. (744) 22 (bone adj1 strength).tw. (4188) 23 (bone adj1 fragil\$).tw. (1680) 24 (bone adj1 loss).tw. (23360) 25 (bone mineral density or bone mineral content or bmc).mp. (38924) 26 Bone Density/ (45641) 27 (bone adj1 deformity).tw. (313) 28 (lumbar adj1 spine).tw. (24195) 29 Lumbar Vertebrae/ (44335) 30 exp Spine/ (125272) 31 exp Diphosphonates/ (22891) 32 (bisphosphonate\$ or diphosphonate\$).tw. (17118) 33 (alendronate or clodronate or etidronate or ibandronate or incadronate or opadronate or pamidronate or risedronate or tiludronate or zoledronate).tw. (9832) 34 Calcitonin/ (14866) 35 calcium/ (253994) 36 Calcitriol/ (13310) 37 exp Cholecalciferol/ (24172) 38 Ergocalciferols/ (2943) 39 Vitamin D/ (27463) 40 Dietary Supplements/ (41269) 41 Teriparatide/ (1589) 42 Weight-Bearing/ (17139) 43 (non-drug adj1 therapy).tw. (103) 44 (diet or exercise).tw. (454348) 45 exp Testosterone/ (65868) 46 testosterone.mp. (91168) 47 or/16-46 (1299956) 48 11 and 15 and 47 (319) 49 remove duplicates from 48 (303)

Appendix 4. Embase (OvidSP) search strategy

Interventions to prevent and treat corticosteroid-induced osteoporosis and prevent osteoporotic fractures in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Review)

Copyright 0 2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

37

7 or/1-6 (1447525) 8 exp animal/ or exp invertebrate/ or animal.hw. or non human/ or nonhuman/ (23158822) 9 human/ or human cell/ or human tissue/ or normal human/ (17529785) 10 8 not 9 (5661779) 11 7 not 10 (1276235) 12 limit 11 to embase (1041572) 13 exp muscular dystrophy/ (36206) 14 ((muscular adj5 dystrophy) or duchenne or dystrophinopathy).tw. (23473) 15 (non ambula* or nonambula*).mp. (2209) 16 or/13-15 (41054) 17 vertebra malformation/ (2625) 18 (vertebral deformity or fracture or compression or crush or wedging or biconcavity).mp. (420882) 19 corticosteroid induced osteoporosis/ (1750) 20 ((steroid adj1 induced) and osteoporosis).tw. (356) 21 ((steroid adj1 induced) and bone loss).tw. (104) 22 ((steroid adj1 induced) and osteopenia).tw. (52) 23 osteoporosis/pc [Prevention] (9654) 24 secondary osteoporosis.tw. (1320) 25 (bone adj1 strength).tw. (5666) 26 (bone adj1 fragil\$).tw. (2437) 27 (bone adj1 loss).tw. (27779) 28 (bone mineral density or bone mineral content or bmc).mp. (52199) 29 bone density/ (70004) 30 bone malformation/ (4902) 31 (((bone adj1 density) or bone) adj1 deformity).tw. (404) 32 exp spine/ (149050) 33 (lumbar vertebra\$ or lumbar spine).tw. (39235) 34 bisphosphonic acid derivative/ (28745) 35 (bisphosphonate\$ or diphosphonate\$).tw. (23178) 36 (alendronate or clodronate or etidronate or ibandronate or incadronate or opadronate or pamidronate or risedronate or tiludronate or zoledronate).tw. (13945) 37 calcitonin/ (21362) 38 calcium/ (242503) 39 calcitriol/ (25813) 40 colecalciferol/ (14523) 41 ergocalciferol/ (6751) 42 vitamin D/ (59328) 43 diet supplementation/ (75411) 44 "parathyroid hormone[1-34]"/ (5412) 45 resistance training/ (9634) 46 weight bearing.mp. (29389) 47 (non-drug adj1 therapy).tw. (166) 48 (diet or exercise).tw. (550445) 49 testosterone.mp. (114818) 50 or/17-49 (1607048) 51 12 and 16 and 50 (162) 52 remove duplicates from 51 (159)

38

Appendix 5. CINAHL Plus (EBSCOhost) search strategy

Monday, September 12, 2016 9:27:36 AM

S48 S46 AND S47 5 S47 EM 20150601- 413,167 S46 s45 Limiters - Exclude MEDLINE records Search modes - Boolean/Phrase 22 S45 S18 AND S19 AND S44 199 S44 S20 or S21 or S22 or S23 or S24 or S25 or S26 or S27 or S28 or S29 or S30 or S31 or S32 or S33 or S34 or S35 or S36 or S37 or \$38 or \$39 or \$40 or \$41 or \$42 or \$43 334,135 S43 diet or exercise or testosterone replacement therapy 197,974 S42 "non drug" W1 therapy 37 S41 weight W1 bearing 6,645 S40 teriparatide 392 \$39 vitamin W1 D 15,233 S38 Cholecalciferol* or Ergocalciferol* 886 \$37 calcitonin or calcium or calcitriol 29,703 \$36 alendronate or clodronate or etidronate or ibandronate or incadronate or opadronate or pamidronate or risedronate or tiludronate or zoledronate 2,128 S35 bisphosphonate* or diphosphonate* 6,770 S34 (MH "Diphosphonates+") 6,762 S33 spine 24,224 S32 lumbar N4 vertebrae 10,854 S31 bone N4 deformity OR lumbar spine 4,994 S30 bone density 14,412 S29 bone mineral density or bone mineral content or bmc 6,242 S28 bone loss 4,602 S27 bone fragil* 260 S26 bone strength 1,008 S25 secondary osteoporosis 203 S24 (MH "Osteoporosis/CI") 576 S23 steroid W1 induced AND osteopenia 2 S22 steroid W1 induced AND bone loss 8 S21 steroid W1 induced AND osteoporosis 32 S20 vertebral W1 deformity OR (fracture or compression or crush or wedging or biconcavity) 67,110 S19 muscular W5 dystrophy OR (duchenne or dystrophinopathy or "non ambula*" or nonambula*) 3,104 \$18 \$1 or \$2 or \$3 or \$4 or \$5 or \$6 or \$7 or \$8 or \$9 or \$10 or \$11 or \$12 or \$13 or \$14 or \$15 or \$16 or \$17 855,321 S17 ABAB design* 92 S16 TI random* or AB random* 178,868 S15 (TI (cross?over or placebo* or control* or factorial or sham? or dummy)) or (AB (cross?over or placebo* or control* or factorial or sham? or dummy)) 355,248 S14 (TI (clin* or intervention* or compar* or experiment* or preventive or therapeutic) or AB (clin* or intervention* or compar* or experiment* or preventive or therapeutic)) and (TI (trial*) or AB (trial*)) 129,453 S13 (TI (meta?analys* or systematic review*)) or (AB (meta?analys* or systematic review*)) 48,376 S12 (TI (single* or doubl* or tripl* or trebl*) or AB (single* or doubl* or tripl* or trebl*)) and (TI (blind* or mask*) or AB (blind* or mask*)) 27,566 S11 PT ("clinical trial" or "systematic review") 131,822 S10 (MH "Factorial Design") 977 S9 (MH "Concurrent Prospective Studies") or (MH "Prospective Studies") 288,464 S8 (MH "Meta Analysis") 25,156 S7 (MH "Solomon Four-Group Design") or (MH "Static Group Comparison") 49 S6 (MH "Quasi-Experimental Studies") 7,981

S5 (MH "Placebos") 9,796
S4 (MH "Double-Blind Studies") or (MH "Triple-Blind Studies") 33,944
S3 (MH "Clinical Trials+") 202,467
S2 (MH "Crossover Design") 13,928
S1 (MH "Random Assignment") or (MH "Random Sample") or (MH "Simple Random Sample") or (MH "Stratified Random Sample") or (MH "Systematic Random Sample") 73,492

Appendix 6. Web of Science Core Collection - Indexes=CPCI-S Timespan=1900-2016

2001-2016 #19 #17 AND #16 Refined by: DOCUMENT TYPES: (PROCEEDINGS PAPER OR MEETING ABSTRACT) DocType=All document types; Language=All languages; #18 #17 AND #16 #17 TS=(random* or "clinical trial" or group or groups or blind* or crossover or "crossover" or "controlled trial") #16 #15 AND #1 #15 #14 OR #13 OR #12 OR #11 OR #10 OR #9 OR #8 OR #7 OR #6 OR #5 OR #4 OR #3 OR #2 #14 TS=(bisphosphonate* or diphosphonate* or alendronate or clodronate or etidronate or ibandronate or incadronate or opadronate or pamidronate or risedronate or tiludronate or zoledronate or calcitonin or calcium or calcitriol or cholecalciferol* or Ergocalciferol* or "vitamin D" or "dietary supplements" or Teriparatide or "weight bearing" or diet or exercise or ("non drug" NEAR therapy) or bone or testosterone) #13 TS=((bone NEAR/3 deformity) or (lumbar NEAR/3 spine)) #12 TS=("bone density" or "lumbar vertebra*") #11 TS=("bone mineral density" or "bone mineral content" or bmc) #10 TS=("bone loss") #9 TS=(bond NEAR/3 fragil*) #8 TS=(bone NEAR/3 strength) #7 ts=("secondary osteoporosis")

#6 TS=(induced and osteopenia)

#5 TS=(induced and "bone loss")

#4 TS=(induced and osteoporosis) #3 TOPIC: (fracture or compression or crush or wedging or biconcavity or lumbar or spine)

#2 TOPIC: ("vertebral deformity" or fracture or compression or crush or wedging or biconcavity or "vertebral deformity")

#1 TOPIC: ((muscular NEAR/5 dystroph*) or duchenne or dystrinopathy or nonambula* or "non ambula*")

Appendix 7. clinicaltrials.gov search strategy

Search performed 11 October 2016

Duchenne muscular dystrophy AND (bone OR bone mineral density OR fractures) AND (vitamin D OR calcium OR testosterone OR physical activity OR exercise)

Appendix 8. apps.who.int/trialsearch/ search strategy

Search performed 11 October 2016. The following terms were used: Duchenne muscular dystrophy AND bone 8 Duchenne muscular dystrophy AND osteoporosis 1 Duchenne muscular dystrophy AND bisphosphonates 1 Duchenne muscular dystrophy AND vitamin D 2 Duchenne muscular dystrophy AND calcium 3 Duchenne muscular dystrophy AND testosterone 1 Duchenne muscular dystrophy AND whole body vibration 1

Appendix 9. www.isrctn.com search strategy

Search performed 11 October 2016 Duchenne muscular dystrophy

Appendix 10. Additional methods described in the protocol

Data extraction and management

Two review authors (JMB and MS) will independently extract data using a standard data extraction form. One author (JMB) will enter data into the Cochrane software Review Manager 5 (RevMan) (RevMan 2014), and a second author (MS) will check data entry. JMB will contact study authors directly for any additional or missing data required. We will note in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table if outcome data are not reported in a usable way.

Where studies provide data on our outcomes at time points less than or more than 24 months, we will extrapolate the data to 24 months when it is reasonable to do so. We will assume a linear response rate but carry out a sensitivity analysis to assess the effects of the imputation, by re-analysis using alternative imputed values.

Measures of treatment effect

Statistical methods used to measure treatment effects will be in accordance with the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Higgins 2011a).

We will analyse dichotomous data as risk ratios (RR) and continuous data as mean difference, or standardised mean difference for results across studies with outcomes that are conceptually the same but measured in different ways. We will report these measures of effect with 95% confidence intervals (CI).

We will undertake meta-analyses, using RevMan, only where this is meaningful, that is, if the treatments, participants, and the underlying clinical question are similar enough for pooling to make sense.

Unit of analysis issues

Where a single trial includes multiple trial arms, we will include only the relevant arms. If we combine two comparisons (e.g. drug A versus placebo and drug B versus placebo) in the same meta-analysis, we will halve the control group to avoid double-counting. For each participant, there may be multiple observations for the same outcome.

Dealing with missing data

We will attempt to contact the trial correspondence author to obtain any missing data. If we are unable to obtain data, we will try to find out why the data are missing and decide, based on whether they are missing at random or not, whether to analyse available data or impute missing values using a statistical model. We will consider how best to include missing data where baseline-observation-carried-forward (BOCF) or last-observation-carried-forward (LOCF) methods have been used for imputation and attempt to standardise these between studies (LOCF being preferable).

We will address the potential implications of missing data (for example, loss to follow -up and no outcome obtained, lack of compliance) in the 'Discussion'.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We will assess clinical heterogeneity by judging, qualitatively, the differences between studies regarding the participants, therapies, and reporting of important study outcomes.

We will statistically test heterogeneity of intervention effects among trials using the standard Chi^2 statistic (P value) and the Higgins I² statistic expressed as a percentage. We will take P values of less than 0.05 as evidence of heterogeneity. We will interpret I² for heterogeneity as follows:

- 0% to 40%: may not be important;
- 30% to 60%: may represent moderate heterogeneity;
- 50% to 90%: may represent substantial heterogeneity; and
- 75% to 100%: considerable heterogeneity.

If we identify substantial unexplained heterogeneity, we will report it and explore possible causes by prespecified subgroup analysis (Higgins 2011b).

Assessment of reporting biases

To detect the presence of publication bias, we will construct a funnel plot using RevMan if there are a reasonable number of studies (at least 10 in the same meta-analysis). We will use Beggs's and Egger's tests to verify the bias (Begg 1994; Egger 1997).

Data synthesis

If there is no substantial or considerable heterogeneity, we will synthesise the data in a meta-analysis using RevMan. We will perform both fixed-effect and random-effects models for comparison purposes and use the most appropriate, depending upon the degree of heterogeneity.

If the review includes more than one comparison, and we cannot include them in the same analysis, we will report the results for each comparison separately.

Cost-utility analyses

We will consider cost-effectiveness of interventions per QALY (quality-adjusted-life-year) in the Discussion, where data are available.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

If there are sufficient data, we plan to undertake the following subgroup analyses using the outcome vertebral fractures:

- 1. ambulant versus non-ambulant (due to disease progression, these groups will reflect age groups); and
- 2. intervention versus intervention combination.

Within each group, we will use the I² statistic for heterogeneity, and if its value is greater than 50%, we will scrutinise the trials and forest plots for differences to explain the heterogeneity. If we find no explanation, we will repeat the analysis using a random-effects model.

'Summary of findings' table

We will create a 'Summary of findings' table using the following outcomes:

- change in bone mineral density as assessed by Z-score;
- frequency of vertebral fragility fractures; and
- adverse events.

We will use the five GRADE considerations (study limitations, consistency of effect, imprecision, indirectness, and publication bias) to assess the quality of a body of evidence (studies that contribute data for the prespecified outcomes). We will use methods and recommendations described in Section 8.5 and Chapter 12 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions*, Higgins

2011a, using GRADEpro software. We will justify all decisions to downgrade or upgrade the quality of studies using footnotes, and we will make comments to aid readers' understanding of the review where necessary.

Sensitivity analysis

We will perform a sensitivity analysis to determine whether conclusions are robust by undertaking both fixed-effect and random-effects meta-analysis. We will perform sensitivity analyses to assess the effect of including studies at high risk of bias on the change in vertebral bone mineral density (body height corrected Z-scores), and by repeating the meta-analysis excluding any studies at high risk of bias. If we have imputed missing data, we will assess the effects of the imputation by re-analysis using several alternative imputed values.

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Jennifer Bell prepared the protocol with discussion and comments from review authors. Dr Janet Watters reviewed the text from the perspective of a healthcare consumer as the mother of a boy with Duchenne muscular dystrophy.

Conceiving the review: MS; BB

Co-ordinating the review: JMB

Undertaking manual searches: JMB

Organising retrieval of papers: JMB

Screening retrieved papers against inclusion criteria: JMB; MS

Writing to authors of papers for additional information: JMB

Data management for the review: JMB

Data extraction and quality assessment: JMB; MS

Interpretation of data: JMB; MS; BB

Writing the review: JMB with contributions from all authors

Guarantor for the review (one author): MS

Person responsible for reading and checking the review before submission: JMB and all authors

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

JMB: none known

TB: acknowledges financial support received from Servier Laboratories Ltd and Amgen UK Ltd to attend national conferences and payment with respect to chairman and speakers fees.

BB: none known

ME: none known

AH: none known

RQ: is Joint Co-ordinating Editor of Cochrane Neuromuscular and is the author of two consensus workshop reports for bone health in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Dr Quinlivan has received an honorarium from Genzyme for lecturing on metabolic muscle disease, as well as consultancy fees from Novartis and Guidepoint Global.

MDS: has received honoraria from GlaxoSmithKline, AstraZeneca, Novartis, Merck Sharp & Dohme, and ALK-Abelló for lectures given at educational meetings and received hospitality to attend the European Respiratory Society and British Thoracic Society annual meetings.

ST: none known

JW: a member of charities Action Duchenne and the Muscular Dystrophy UK.

 $\textbf{Copyright} @ \textbf{2017 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley \& Sons, Ltd. \\$

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• No sources of support supplied

External sources

• Health Research Board/HSC R&D Division Cochrane Fellowship Award, Ireland.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

Lack of data prevented full implementation of our protocol (Bell 2014).